
 

Please note: Electronic copies of this agenda and its related papers  
are available via the Council’s website www.maldon.gov.uk. 

APOLOGIES Committee Services  DIRECTOR OF STRATEGY, 
PERFORMANCE AND 
GOVERNANCE 
Paul Dodson  

Email: Committee.clerk@maldon.gov.uk  

    
   26 August 2021 

Dear Councillor 

 
You are summoned to attend the meeting of the; 
 

JOINT STANDARDS COMMITTEE  
 

on MONDAY 6 SEPTEMBER 2021 at 12.30 pm 
 

in the Council Chamber, Maldon District Council Offices, Princes Road, Maldon. 
 

Please Note that due to social distancing and space limitations, we require any members of the 
public or press who wish to attend physically and observe at this meeting to complete a request 
form (to be submitted by 12noon on the working day before the Committee meeting).  This will be 
reviewed and managed according to capacity of the meeting and whether any other persons have 
already registered. 
 
The Committee meeting will still be live streamed via the Council’s YouTube channel for ease of 
viewing. 
 
A copy of the agenda is attached. 
 
Yours faithfully 

 
Director of Strategy, Performance and Governance 
 
COMMITTEE MEMBERSHIP: 
 

CHAIRMAN Councillor M G Bassenger 

VICE-CHAIRMAN Councillor Mrs J L Fleming, CC 

COUNCILLORS Miss A M Beale 
R P F Dewick 
K W Jarvis 
C Mayes 
S P Nunn 
R H Siddall 

PARISH / TOWN  
COUNCILLOR (non-voting) 

Councillor P Stilts 
One vacancy 

INDEPENDENT PERSON 
(non-voting) 

Mr J Mitchell 

Unrestricted Document Pack

http://www.maldon.gov.uk/
https://forms.office.com/Pages/ResponsePage.aspx?id=VH_RilQmuUumwvI0YlcqFJCd4KzoXBdDs1brNZU39TJUOVpCU0xQVlRWQlhHVU8wVThIMU03UjFLSC4u
https://forms.office.com/Pages/ResponsePage.aspx?id=VH_RilQmuUumwvI0YlcqFJCd4KzoXBdDs1brNZU39TJUOVpCU0xQVlRWQlhHVU8wVThIMU03UjFLSC4u
https://www.youtube.com/channel/UCWKn8R24ZTbD3eaEJtq6bYw/featured


 

Page 2 

For further information please see the Council's website. 

AGENDA 
JOINT STANDARDS COMMITTEE 

MONDAY 6 SEPTEMBER 2021 
 
1. Chairman's Notices   
 
2. Apologies for Absence   
 
3. Minutes of the last meeting  (Pages 3 - 10) 
 
 

To confirm the Minutes of the meeting of the Joint Standards Committee held on 17 
August 2021 (copy enclosed). 
 

4. Disclosure of Interest   
 
 To disclose the existence and nature of any Disclosable Pecuniary Interests, other 

Pecuniary Interest or Non-Pecuniary Interests relating to items of business on the 
agenda having regard to paragraphs 6 – 8 of the Code of Conduct for Members. 
 
(Members are reminded that they are also required to disclose any such interest as 
soon as they become aware should the need arise through the meeting). 
 

5. Standards Complaints - Councillor Chrisy Morris  (Pages 11 - 70) 
 
 To consider the report of the Acting Monitoring Officer, (copy enclosed).  

 
Please note that whilst the Committee deliberates the press and public will be 
excluded from the meeting. 
 

6. Any other items of business that the Chairman of the Committee decides are 
urgent   

 
 

NOTICES 
 
Recording of Meeting 
Please note that the Council will be recording and publishing on the Council’s website any 
part of this meeting held in open session.   
 
Fire 
In the event of a fire, a siren will sound.  Please use the fire exits marked with the green 
running man.  The fire assembly point is outside the main entrance to the Council Offices.  
Please gather there and await further instruction. 
 
Health and Safety 
Please be advised of the different levels of flooring within the Council Chamber.  There are 
steps behind the main horseshoe as well as to the side of the room. 
 
Closed-Circuit Televisions (CCTV) 
Meetings held in the Council Chamber are being monitoring and recorded by CCTV. 

http://www.maldon.gov.uk/


 

MINUTES of 
JOINT STANDARDS COMMITTEE 
17 AUGUST 2021 

PRESENT 

Chairman Councillor M G Bassenger 

Vice-Chairman Councillor Mrs J L Fleming, CC 

Councillors 

Town Councillor 

Miss A M Beale, C Mayes, S P Nunn, R H Siddall and Stilts 

Councillor P Stilts 

In attendance Mr John Mitchell, the Independent Person 

210. CHAIRMAN'S NOTICES 

The Chairman opened the meeting, welcomed Mr John Mitchell the new 
Independent Person to his first Joint Standards Committee and invited all present 
to introduce themselves for his benefit. He then took the Committee through 
some housekeeping arrangements for the meeting. 

211. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 

Apologies for absence were received from Councillor R P F Dewick and K W Jarvis. 

212. MINUTES OF THE LAST MEETING 

RESOLVED 

(i) that the Minutes of the Joint Standards Committee held on 22 February be 
received. 

Minute 274- Complaint Against Councillor – Next Step 
It was noted that the typographical error in paragraph 5, second sentence ‘thiw as’, 
should read as ‘this was’. 

RESOLVED 

(ii) that subject to the above amendment, the Minutes of the Joint Standards 
Committee held on 22 February 2021 be agreed. 

213. DISCLOSURE OF INTEREST 

There were no disclosures. 

Unrestricted Document Pack

Page 3

Agenda Item 3



 

214. CONSULTATION ON COMPLAINTS PROCESS AND AMENDMENTS TO THE 
ARTICLES FOR STANDARDS ARRANGEMENTS  

The Committee considered the report of the Monitoring Officer together with Appendix 
1 that detailed the response to the consultation on the complaints process resulting in 
amendment to Article 7 of the Constitution. The Committee were asked to agree 
Recommendation to Council to approve the amendments to Appendix 1.  

The Chairman introduced the report and deferred to the Lead Legal Specialist and 
Monitoring Officer to present the detail. He provided background to the report in that 
some Members had raised concerns regarding the Member complaints process and it 
was suggested by the Leader of the Council that an email consultation to canvass all 
Members’ views be undertaken. It was noted that the response from Members was set 
out at paragraph 3.1 of the report and the Monitoring Officer’s response to each of 
those was set out at a) to j) in paragraph 3.2 of the report. Those responses had 
resulted in a change to the Article 7 Complaints Process, which forms a part of the 
Constitution. Appendix 1 to the report outlined those tracked changes that the 
Committee were being asked to consider for recommendation to Council based on 
responses received.  

There were a few other matters not included in the report that weren’t the subject of 
member comment during the consultation, firstly as shown at Appendix 1, Stage 1 
paragraph 5 this had been changed to ‘Formal Investigation’ to remove the process of 
the Monitoring Officer (MO) referring an item to the Joint Standards Committee (JSC) 
to determine if it should be investigated and whether it should be external, as this was 
a matter for the MO to decide and not JSC. The other matter related to the inclusion of 
the ‘Public Interest Test’ as a footnote at the end of Appendix 1. This addition had been 
agreed by JSC in January 2021 and provided the criteria that informed whether an 
investigation take place or not. For transparency this was also available to the public.  

The Chairman then opened the debate and a lengthy discussion took place. 

An issue was raised regarding the application of political balance rules in respect of the 
JSC and the Monitoring Officer provided legal advice. Members then went on to 
discuss in detail the amendments as a result of the consultation together with further 
amendments as follows:- 

 That in respect of changes in Section 1 ‘Composition’, paragraph c) relating to
seeking nominations from parishes/town councils Councillor Nunn proposed
that an email be sent from Maldon District Council to all Parish Clerks asking for
nominations by an agreed deadline, this to include the Terms of Reference for
the Joint Standards Committee (JSC). Should nominations for representatives
and substitutes not be forthcoming the fall-back position was to engage with the
two respective Town Councils, Maldon Town Council and Burnham-on-Crouch
Town Council. This was seconded by Councillor Siddall. The Chairman put the
proposal to the Committee and it was agreed by assent.

In respect of the above agreed change it was noted that the Essex Association of Local 
Councils (EALC) was content not to have nomination powers.  

 That in respect of changes at Stage II,  under ‘BREACH’, the existing first bullet
point be amended to read ‘Following investigation the MO/IP consider and
pursue informal resolution with a subsequent report to the Joint Standards
Committee for information’. This was a joint proposal by Councillors Nunn and
Siddall, duly seconded by Councillor Mayes. The Chairman put this proposal to
the Committee and it was agreed by assent.

Page 4



 

 That with reference to Section 1’Composition’, paragraph d) Councillor Siddall
proposed the Independent Person be appointed for a term of four years only.
This was seconded by Councillor Mayes. The Chairman put the proposal to the
Committee and it was lost.

 That in respect of changes at Stage I, paragraph 4, Councillor Mayes proposed
that the following be added to the second sentence ‘within 15 working days of
receipt of the complaint…’. This was seconded by Councillor Siddall. The
Chairman put the proposal to the Committee and it was agreed by assent.

 That in respect of changes at Stage I, paragraph 5, Councillor Mayes proposed
that the second bullet point be merged with the third to read ‘Informal
Resolution which may include reference to Political Group Leader…’. This was
seconded by Councillor Siddall. The Chairman put the proposal to the
Committee and it was agreed by assent.

 That in respect of changes at Stage I, paragraph 5, bullet point 5 ‘Formal
Investigation’ Councillor Nunn proposed that this be amended to read ‘Formal
Investigation to be commenced within 5 working days of the receipt of the
request and concluded in a timely manner .This was seconded by Councillor
Siddall. The Chairman put the proposal to the Committee and it was agreed by
assent.

There being no further amendments or discussion the Chairman moved the 
recommendation which was duly agreed by assent. 

RECOMMENDED that the Council approve the changes to the Articles of the 
Constitution, Article 7- Standards Arrangements and especially to the complaints 
process (as set out in Appendix 1 to these Minutes). 

215. ANY OTHER ITEMS OF BUSINESS THAT THE CHAIRMAN OF THE COMMITTEE 
DECIDES ARE URGENT  

There were none and the Chairman thanked all in attendance for their contributions. 

The meeting closed at 2.11 pm. 

M G BASSENGER 
CHAIRMAN 

Page 5



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 6



PART 2 – ARTICLES OF THE CONSTITUTION 

(Updated – June 2021) Article 7 – Standards Arrangements 

ARTICLE 7 – STANDARDS ARRANGEMENTS 

CONTENTS 

1. Composition
2. Roles and Functions of the Joint Standards Committee:
3. Procedural Arrangements:
4. Code of Conduct Complaints Process – Written Summary

The Council has established a Joint Standards Committee with all Parish and Town Councils 
in the Maldon District. 

1. COMPOSITION

a. The Joint Standards Committee consists of eight elected Members of Maldon District
Council and two Local Council representatives and one Independent Person.  The
Independent Person (or Reserve) - shall be notified of and invited to attend meetings
and may participate in the discussion.  The Independent Person has no voting rights.

b. Maldon District Council Members will be appointed at the Annual Meeting of the
Council in line with the rules on political proportionality.

c. Local Council Member representatives will be nominated (including substitutes)
through the process of contacting all Parish Clerks asking for nominations by an
agreed deadline, with the invitation attaching the Terms of Reference for the Joint
Standards Committee (JSC). Should nominations not be forthcoming the fall-back
position is to invite the , Maldon Town Council and Burnham-on-Crouch Town
Council to nominate.   The representatives will act as co-opted members (without
voting rights) and serve for a period of no more than two years subject to remaining
elected and pending further nomination.

d. Independent Persons will be appointed by Council.  Independent Persons shall be
appointed for a period of four years, with the option of re-appointment for a further
four years; no Independent Person may serve more than two terms of office.

The current Independent Person is Mr N HodsonJohn Mitchell  and the reserve
Independent Person is Mr S AnthonyKathy Payne.

e. Group Leaders may not be members of the Committee.

f. The Chairman and Vice-Chairman of the Committee shall be elected at the first and
special meeting of the Committee held on the day of the Annual Meeting of the
Council.  The Chairman and Vice-Chairman shall not be appointed from the same
political group.

g. The Vice-Chairman shall deputise for the Chairman in his or her absence.

h. The quorum for meetings of the Committee shall be three voting Members.

APPENDIX 1

Page 

Minute Annex

Page 7



PART 2 – ARTICLES OF THE CONSTITUTION 

(Updated – June 2021) Article 7 – Standards Arrangements 

i. Substitutes shall be permitted for District Council Members to maintain political
balance, and named substitutes as nominated by the EALC the Parish Councils shall
be permitted for Local Council Members.

2. ROLES AND FUNCTIONS OF THE JOINT STANDARDS COMMITTEE:

The Joint Standards Committee will promote and maintain high ethical standards of
conduct by Councillors in the District of Maldon.  It will hold Councillors to account
where it determines that Councillors’ conduct has fallen short of what is to be
expected or otherwise required of them pursuant to the applicable Council’s adopted
Code of Conduct.  Further details on the role and functions of the Joint Standards
Committee are set out elsewhere in this part of the Council’s Constitution.

3. PROCEDURAL ARRANGEMENTS:

The Joint Standards Committee will conduct its proceedings in accordance with the
relevant Procedure Rules set out in Part 4 of this Constitution and the adopted
Conduct Complaint Process set out below.  The Committee will meet as and when
required.

When dealing with matters deemed to be private / confidential where the public is to
be excluded from the meeting, it is essential that the Committee’s work is confined to
the Members of the Committee only at the time, and circulation of papers will be
restricted accordingly.  Notwithstanding Procedure Rule 19 and the general
acceptance of the practice which enables Members to attend meetings of other
Committees, private sessions of meetings of this Committee should proceed only with
the appointed Members, the Independent Person and required support of Officers
present.

4. CODE OF CONDUCT COMPLAINTS PROCESS – WRITTEN SUMMARY

Stage I 
1. If a complaint has been made by an Officer of the District Council against a District

Councillor, it shall not normally be referred to the Monitoring Officer (MO) unless it
has first been dealt with under the Member / Officer Relations Protocol.

2. Upon receipt of complaint, an initial assessment within 5 working days will be
undertaken by the MO to establish the exact nature of the complaint and whether there
is a potential breach of the Code of Conduct.

Informative: It is the normal practice of this Council to disclose the identity of the
complainant to the councillor who is the subject of the complaint unless there are
good reasons for the identity of the complainant to remain confidential.

3. All complaints will be acknowledged and the Councillor complained of notified
within five working days of receipt.  The MO shall send a copy of  this complaints
process to the Councillor.  The Leader of the Council will be notified of all
complaints against District Councillors and generally kept advised.

APPENDIX 1

Page 8

http://www.maldon.gov.uk/download/downloads/id/18645/member_officer_relations_protocol.pdf


PART 2 – ARTICLES OF THE CONSTITUTION 

(Updated – June 2021) Article 7 – Standards Arrangements 

4. The MO will seek further information as required from either the Councillor
complained of or the complainant within 15 10  working days of receipt of the
complaint.  If the subject Councillor declines to co-operate with the MO within 15
working days of receipt of the complaint without good reason, then the MO may
move directly to consult with the Independent Person (IP) – this in itself could
constitute a separate breach of the Code of Conduct.

5. The MO will then consider the complaint in discussion with the IP and reach a
conclusion as to the likelihood of a breach of the Code and a way forward taking into
account the public interest test (see below as a footnote).  A conclusion will normally
be reached within 25 15working days of receipt of the complaint, and the respective
parties notified.  Options for conclusion at this stage are:

• No further action.

• Refer to Political Group Leader for action (MO / IP to reconsider if no action
taken). 

• Informal resolution. which  may include reference  to Political Group Leader
for action (MO / IP to reconsider if no action taken).

• 

• Refer to Police (if potential criminal issues involved).

• MO / IP decide to put straight to investigation (internal) and then Stage II
Hearing.Formal investigation to be commenced within 5 working days of the 
receipt of the request and completed in a timely manner 

• Move to Stage II (with or without further discussion with parties to
complaint). 

Stage II 

• Refer to Joint Standards Committee (JSC) – two possible decisions / outcomes:

• Investigation (and Group Leader informed).

• No further action (all parties including IP to be notified immediately and
rationale / detailed reasoning to be provided within 10 working days of the 
decision. 

• Formal Investigation investigation outcomes:

• NO BREACH

• No further action.

• Copy of report and findings to all parties including IP.

• Report to JSC members for information.

• BREACH

APPENDIX 1

Page 9



PART 2 – ARTICLES OF THE CONSTITUTION 

(Updated – June 2021) Article 7 – Standards Arrangements 

• Following investigation the MO / IP consider and pursue possible
informal resolution with a report afterwards to JSC for information

• JSC Hearing to determine if there is a breach of the Code of Conduct
and to impose any sanctions (which may also be convened to hear
outcome of Stage I investigation by MO orif there is a failure to
achieve informal resolution under Stage II)

• Hearing findings to be notified to all parties immediately and any rationale/detailed
reasoning for decision to be provided within 10 7 working days of the hearing.
Decision notice to be published on Council’s website as soon as is practicable after
notification if there is a breach of the Code of Conduct.   In the case of a finding of no
breach the decision notice shall only be published at the request of the Councillor the
subject of the complaint.

Public Interest Test  (footnote) 
• The seriousness of the alleged breach taking into consideration that minor breaches do

not always require that action should be taken and if an individual incident is deemed 
minor whether it forms part of a pattern of behaviour; 

• Whether the complaint is politically motivated or is “tit for tat”;
• When the alleged conduct took place and whether it could be fairly investigated;
• Whether the Councillor is still in office;
• whether the member deliberately sought personal gain for themselves or another

person at the public expense 
• whether the circumstances of the breach are such that a member has misused a

position of trust or authority and caused harm to another 
• whether the breach was motivated by any form of discrimination against the victim’s

ethnic or national origin, gender, disability, age, religion or belief, sexual orientation
or gender identity

APPENDIX 1

Page 10



 

Our Vision: Sustainable Council – Prosperous Future 

REPORT of 
ACTING MONITORING OFFICER 

to 
JOINT STANDARDS COMMITTEE  
6 SEPTEMBER 2021 
 
STANDARDS COMPLAINTS - COUNCILLOR CHRISY MORRIS 

1. PURPOSE OF THE REPORT 

 
 To advise the Committee of two investigations following complaints against  1.1

Councillor Chrisy Morris in respect of which the Committee is required to adjudicate 
and to guide the Committee through the hearing. 
 

 It should be noted that given previous complaints and in the interests of ensuring that 1.2
there is a fair hearing, Paul Turner, Monitoring Officer of Essex County Council has 
been appointed as Acting Monitoring Officer of Maldon District Council for the 
purpose of this hearing.  He is therefore the author of this report. 

 

2. RECOMMENDATIONS 

 
(i) For the Committee to consider both investigation reports appended to this 

report and any representations made by Councillor Morris; 
 

(ii) For the Committee to decide, with respect to each of the allegations 
summarised in paragraph 3.2, whether Councillor Morris has failed to comply 
with the Code of Conduct; and 
 

(iii) With respect to each any of those allegations where the Committee find that 
Councillor Morris has breached the Code of Conduct, to consider what 
sanctions (if any) are to be applied.  

 

3. SUMMARY OF KEY ISSUES 

 
 Please see two investigation reports attached at APPENDICES 1 and 2 to this report.  3.1

 
 Allegations have been grouped into seven headings in the table below. which will all 3.2

need to be considered by the Joint Standards Committee. 
 

Complainant Summary Finding of Investigator 

Report of Mr Oram 

1.Councillor 
Christopher 
Swain 

At Planning Committee on 13 
August 2020 Councillor Morris 
Councillor Morris made 
abusive, haranguing and 
potentially slanderous 
comments towards Mr Paul 
Dodson (the Council’s Director 
of Strategy, Performance and 

Recommendation that this is a breach of 
paragraph 3.2 of the code of conduct, namely 
a failure to treat people with respect. 
 
Further, that this taken with the other 
breaches, constitutes bullying contrary to 
paragraph 3.5(b) of the code and conducted 
himself in a manner which could reasonably 

Page 11

Agenda Item 5



Complainant Summary Finding of Investigator 

Governance and Returning 
Officer) and Mr Richard 
Holmes (the Council’s Director 
of Service Delivery and Head 
of Paid Service. 

be regarded as bringing his or office or the 
Authority into disrepute, contrary to paragraph 
3.5(e) of the Code. 

2. Councillor 
Maddie 
Thompson 

On 14 August 2020 Councillor 
Morris made comments in an 
email to Councillor Mark Heard 
(which was copied to all 
members) which were rude 
about her and other members 
of the Council. 

Recommendation that this is a breach of 
paragraph 3.2 of the code of conduct, namely 
a failure to treat people with respect. 
 
Further, that this taken with the other 
breaches, constitutes bullying contrary to 
paragraph 3.5(b) of the code and conducted 
himself in a manner which could reasonably 
be regarded as bringing his or office or the 
Authority into disrepute, contrary to paragraph 
3.5(e) of the Code. 

3. Councillor 
Bob Boyce 

On 3 September 2020, during 
the meeting of the Council’s 
Joint Standards Committee, 
Councillor Morris referred to 
him as having diminished 
mental capacity. 

Recommendation that this is a breach of 
paragraph 3.2 of the code of conduct, namely 
a failure to treat people with respect. 
 
Further, that this taken with the other 
breaches, constitutes bullying contrary to 
paragraph 3.5(b) of the code and conducted 
himself in a manner which could reasonably 
be regarded as bringing his or office or the 
Authority into disrepute, contrary to paragraph 
3.5(e) of the Code. 

4.Councillor 
Penny 
Channer 

On 29 October 2020, 
Councillor Morris disclosed 
confidential information on 
social media relating to an 
investigation into the conduct 
of former councillor Elaine 
Bamford. 

 
On 5 February 2021, 
Councillor Morris used an 
aggressive and bullying tone 
during a private telephone 
conversation with Councillor 
Channer and that he 
subsequently posted a 
recording of his conversation 
with Councillor Channer on 
Facebook without her 
permission 

Recommendation that this is a breach of 
paragraph 3.2 of the code of conduct, namely 
a failure to treat people with respect. 
 
Further recommendation that this is 
disclosing confidential information contrary to 
paragraph 3.6 of the Code of Conduct.   
 
Further, that this taken with the other 
breaches, constitutes bullying contrary to 
paragraph 3.5(b) of the code and conducted 
himself in a manner which could reasonably 
be regarded as bringing his or office or the 
Authority into disrepute, contrary to paragraph 
3.5(e) of the Code. 

Report of Mr Lewin 

5. Complaint 
of Maldon 
DC’s 
Corporate 
Leadership 
Team 

That Councillor Morris’s 
behaviour towards Cheryl 
Hughes during a phone call on  
22 April 2021, at an 
extraordinary meeting of the 
council held on 29 April 2021, 
at the annual meeting of the 
council on 20 May 2021 and in 

Taken together, these incidents show a clear 
pattern of aggressive, intimidating behaviour 
targeted at an individual officer in an attempt 
to undermine and humiliate her. It is 
undoubtedly bullying behaviour and therefore 
a breach of paragraph 3.5(b) of the Code. 
 
The public way in which Councillor Morris has 

Page 12



Complainant Summary Finding of Investigator 

a facebook post on 21 May 
2021 were inappropriate.  

targeted Ms Hughes gives the impression that 
Councillor Morris can act with impunity. This 
brings both Councillor Morris’s office as 
councillor, and the Council as a whole, into 
disrepute, in breach of paragraph 3.5(e) of 
the Code. 

6.Complaint 
of CLT 

Councillor Morris’s behaviour 
towards Paul Dodson on 10 
June 2021 

This behaviour constitutes a serious breach 
of the Code: it amounts to bullying (paragraph 
3.5(b)) and brings both Councillor Morris 
office as a councillor, and the Council as a 
whole, into 
disrepute (paragraph 3.5(e)). 

7. Other 
findings by 
Mr Lewin 

Councillor Morris’s behaviour 
during Mr Lewin’s 
investigation; towards the 
investigator and to the Leader 
of the Council. 

by attempting to undermine and publicly 
discredit this investigation, Councillor Morris 
has brought his office and the Council into 
disrepute, in breach of paragraph 3.5(e) of 
the Code. 

4. PRELIMINARY MATTERS 

  
 Councillor Morris has been asked to indicate whether he wishes to raise any issues 4.1

of factual dispute with the reports.  He has raised no disputes of fact on either report, 
although Councillor Morris’s initial comment on Mr Oram’s report was that he had not 
read it.  Should Councillor Morris seek to raise any dispute of fact he will need to 
explain to the Committee why he has not raised it in the three months or so since he 
was sent the first report.  It will be a matter for the Committee to decide whether or 
not to allow him a further opportunity to raise any disagreement with the facts.  Any 
such dispute may lead to a successful request for the hearing to be adjourned.   
 

 Councillor Morris was asked whether or not he wished to seek permission to call 4.2
witnesses and, if so, upon which issue they would be able to provide evidence.  
Councillor Morris was reminded that if permission was given to call any witnesses 
then he would be responsible for ensuring that they attended.  Councillor Morris 
initially provided a list of proposed witnesses but did not provide any information 
about the issues upon which each witness would be able to provide evidence – any 
evidence would need to be relevant to an issue that the Committee will need to 
determine.  Accordingly, Councillor Morris has not been given permission to call any 
witnesses.  If Councillor Morris makes a request at the hearing it will raise similar 
issues to those outlined in paragraph 4.1. 
 

 Councillor Morris was asked whether there were any documents that he wished to 4.3
rely upon at the hearing.  Councillor Morris’s initial request was to ask whether or not 
he was compelled to provide the documents.  It was explained to him that if he did 
not provide a document upon which he subsequently sought to rely then it may be 
that the Committee would not consider the document or the hearing may need to be 
adjourned.  Councillor Morris then produced some text messages, although it is not 
clear how they are relevant to any matter to be determined as they appear to be 
significantly after the issues considered by Mr Oram and significantly before the 
issues considered by Mr Lewin. 
 

 When this report was being finalised a minor factual issue with the report of Mr Oram 4.4
came to light which is that it states that Councillor Morris is a member of the 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee (and of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
sitting as the Crime and Disorder Committee).  In fact Councillor Morris ceased to be 

Page 13



a member of that committee on 20 May 2021 which was after the report was written 
but before it was sent to the Council. 

5. THE HEARING 

 
 The meeting has been convened to hold a hearing into the allegations summarised in 5.1

paragraph 3.2 of the report. 
 

 It is important that, taken together, the process followed before the hearing and 5.2
during the hearing is fair both to Councillor Morris and those who have raised 
concerns about his behaviour.  
 

 It is suggested that the following process would be appropriate: 5.3
 

5.3.1 Welcome and introductions from the Chairman. 
 

5.3.2 Acting Monitoring Officer to explain the process to those present. 
 

5.3.3 Mr Oram to present his report 
 

5.3.4 Councillor Morris invited to ask any questions of Mr Oram relating to his report. 
 

5.3.5 Committee Members and Independent Person invited to ask any questions of Mr 
Oram. 
 

5.3.6 Mr Lewin to present his report. 
 

5.3.7 Councillor Morris invited to ask any questions of Mr Lewin relating to his report. 
 

5.3.8 Committee Members and Independent Person to ask any questions of Mr Lewin. 
 

5.3.9 Councillor Morris to make any representations with respect to the conclusions of the 
reports and, with the permission of the committee, to call third parties (note that no 
permission has been granted). 
 

5.3.10 Mr Oram to ask questions of Councillor Morris. 
 

5.3.11 Mr Lewin to ask questions of Councillor Morris. 
 

5.3.12 Committee Members/Independent Person to ask questions of Councillor Morris. 
 

5.3.13 Independent person invited to give advice to the Committee. 
 

5.3.14 Press and public excluded so that the committee can deliberate with the assistance 
of the Independent Person.  The monitoring officer may be called for advice. 
 

5.3.15 Press and public are re-admitted to the meeting and the chairman announces the 
decision on breach. 
 

5.3.16 If the Committee has found a breach of the code then it will consider what sanctions 
to apply, using the following process: 
 
(i) Councillor Morris will be invited to make any representations he wishes to 

make on the sanction to apply.  
  

(ii) The Committee will give Mr Oram and Mr Lewin an opportunity to respond. 

Page 14



(iii) Independent person invited to give advice to the Committee on sanction. 
 

(iv) Press and public excluded so that the committee can deliberate with the 
assistance of the Independent Person.  The Acting Monitoring Officer may be 
called for advice. 

 
(v) Press and public are re-admitted to the meeting and the chairman announces 

the decision on what (if any) sanction to apply. 
 

6. SANCTIONS 

 
 If the Committee determines that there are breaches of the Code of Conduct then it 6.1

can impose one or more of the following sanctions, subject to the law it may wish to 
make other sanctions: 

1. Reporting its findings to Council for information; 

 

2. Recommending to Council that the Member concerned be issued with a 
formal censure or reprimand that is posted on the website ; 

 
3. Instructing the Acting Monitoring Officer to arrange training for the member; 

 

4. Recommending withdrawal of facilities provided to the Member by the 
Council, such as a computer and/or email and internet access or use of 
offices other than for statutory meetings; 

 
5. Recommending to Council that he/she be removed from any Committee, 

Working Group or Outside Body. 

7. IMPACT ON STRATEGIC THEMES 

 
 None. 7.1

 

8. IMPLICATIONS 

 
(i) Impact on Customers – None. 

(ii) Impact on Equalities – None. 

(iii) Impact on Risk – None. 

(iv) Impact on Resources (financial) – None. 

(v) Impact on Resources (human) – None. 

(vi) Impact on the Environment – None. 
 
(vii) Impact on Strengthening Communities – None. 

 
 
Background Papers: None. 
 
Enquiries to: Paul Turner, Acting Monitoring Officer (Essex County Council) on 03330 
134591 

Page 15



This page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX 1 
 

1 
 

 

  
 
 
 
 

 
 

Independent investigation into  
allegations concerning  

 
Councillor Chrisy Morris 

of  

 Maldon District Council 
 

Report into complaints by 
 

Councillor Christopher Swain 
Councillor Maddie Thompson 

Councillor Bob Boyce 
Councillor Penny Channer 

 
 

 
 
 
 

 
 
 

8 June 2021 

   

Page 17



APPENDIX 1 
 

2 
 

 

Contents 

 
 

1. Executive Summary         3 
 

2. Councillor Morris’ official details       4 
 

3. Relevant legislation and protocols      4 
 

4. The investigation         6 
 

5. Has Councillor Morris failed to comply with the Code?   23 
 

6. Recommendations         35 
 

 
Annex A.  Case Law relevant to Article 10 
Annex B. Comments received on the draft report. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Page 18



APPENDIX 1 
 

3 
 

1:  Executive Summary 
 
1.1 On 13 August 2020, Councillor Christopher Swain submitted a complaint to the 

Monitoring Officer at Maldon District Council (‘the Council’) in which he alleged 
that Councillor Chrisy Morris had failed to comply with the Council’s Code of 
Conduct (‘the Code’). Councillor Swain alleged that during a meeting of the 
Council’s District Planning Committee held on 13 August 2020, Councillor 
Morris made abusive, haranguing and potentially slanderous comments 
towards Mr Paul Dodson (the Council’s Director of Strategy, Performance and 
Governance and Returning Officer) and Mr Richard Holmes (the Council’s 
Director of service Delivery and Head of Paid Service).  
 

1.2 On 27 August 2020, Councillor Maddie Thompson also submitted a complaint 
to the Council’s Monitoring Officer about Councillor Morris’ conduct. Councillor 
Thompson, who had chaired part of the meeting held on 13 August 2020, 
alleged that on 14 August 2020 day Councillor Morris made comments in an 
email to Councillor Mark Heard (which was copied to all members) which were 
rude about her and other members of the Council. Councillor Thompson 
alleged that Councillor Morris’s comments, both during the meeting on 13 
August 2020 and in the subsequent email were, disrespectful, bullying and 
intimidating in nature. 

 
1.3 On 3 September 2020, the Monitoring Officer received a third complaint about 

Councillor Morris’s conduct. In this complaint, Councillor Bob Boyce alleged 
that on 3 September 2020, during the meeting of the Council’s Joint Standards 
Committee, Councillor Morris referred to him as having diminished mental 
capacity. 

 
1.4 During the course or our investigation into the above, the Council’s Monitoring 

Officer asked us to also investigate a fourth complaint that he had received 
about Councillor Morris’ conduct. In this complaint, submitted by Councillor 
Penny Channer on 11 February 2021, it was alleged that: 
 

● on 29 October 2020, Councillor Morris disclosed confidential information 
on social media relating to an investigation into the conduct of former 
councillor Elaine Bamford. 
 

● on 5 February 2021, Councillor Morris used an aggressive and bullying 
tone during a private telephone conversation with Councillor Channer 
and that he subsequently posted a recording of his conversation with 
Councillor Channer on Facebook without her permission. 

 
1.5 In relation to Councillor Swain’s complaint, our recommendation is that 

Councillor Morris be found to have failed to treat others with respect, contrary to 
paragraph 3.2 of the Council’s Code. 
 

1.6 In relation to Councillor Thompson’s complaint, our recommendation is that 
Councillor Morris be found to have failed to treat others with respect, contrary to 
paragraph 3.2 of the Council’s Code.  

 

Page 19



APPENDIX 1 
 

4 
 

1.7 In relation to Councillor Thompson’s complaint our recommendation is that the 
Council find that Councillor Morris be found to have failed to treat others with 
respect, contrary to paragraph 3.2 of the Council’s Code. 

 
1.8 In relation to Councillor Boyce’s complaint, our recommendation is that 

Councillor Morris be found not to have failed to treat others with respect. 
 

1.9 In relation to Councillor Channer’s two complaints, our recommendation is that 
Councillor Morris be found to have failed to treat others with respect, contrary to 
paragraph 3.2 of the Code, and that he disclosed confidential information, 
contrary to paragraph 3.6 of the Code. 

 
1.10 Finally, based on way in in which Councillor Morris conducted himself with 

regards all the matters referred to in this report, behaved in relation to  that as a 
result of the evidence set out in this report, we recommend that he is found to 
have bullied others, contrary to paragraph 3.5(b) of the Code, and conducted 
himself in a manner which could reasonably be regarded as bringing his or 
office or the Authority into disrepute, contrary to paragraph 3.5(e) of the Code.  

 

2:  Councillor Morris’ official details  
 
2.1 Councillor Morris has been a member of the Council since 6 May 2019. He is 

an Independent member and currently represents the Heybridge West ward.  
 

2.2 Councillor Morris is currently appointed to the following Council Committees: 
 

● Central Area Planning Committee. 
● District Planning Committee. 
● Overview and Scrutiny Committee. 
● Overview and Scrutiny Committee (meeting as the Crime and Disorder 

Committee. 
● Statutory Annual Council. 

 
 

3:  Relevant legislation and protocols 
 
The Localism Act 2011 
 

3.1 Section 27 of the Localism Act 2011 (the Act) provides that a relevant Authority 
must promote and maintain high standards of conduct by members and co-
opted members of the Authority. In discharging this duty, the Authority must 
adopt a code dealing with the conduct that is expected of members when they 
are acting in that capacity. For the purposes of this investigation, the relevant 
Authority is Maldon District Council. 
 

3.2 Section 28 of the Act provides that the Authority must secure that its Code of 
Conduct is, when viewed as a whole, consistent with the following principles: - 
Selflessness; Integrity; Objectivity; Accountability; Openness; Honesty; 
Leadership. 
 

Page 20



APPENDIX 1 
 

5 
 

3.3 Under 28(6) of the Act, Local Authorities must have in place (a) arrangements 
under which allegations can be investigated and (b) arrangements under which 
decisions on allegations can be made. By section 27(7), arrangements put in 
place under subsection (6)(b) must include provision by the appointment of the 
Authority of at least one “independent person” whose views are to be sought, 
and taken into account, by the Authority before it makes its decision on an 
allegation that it has decided to investigate. For the purposes of this 
investigation, the relevant Authority is Maldon District Council. 

 
3.4 Section 28(11) of the Act provides that if a relevant Authority finds that a 

member or a co-opted member of the Authority has failed to comply with its 
Code of Conduct it may have regard to the failure in deciding (a) whether to 
take action in relation to the member or co-opted member and (b) what action 
to take.  

 
Maldon District Council’s Code of Conduct 

 
3.5 Under Section 27(2) of the Localism Act the Council established a Code of 

Conduct for members (the Code). 
 

3.6 The Code adopted by the Council includes the following paragraphs: 
 
 General Obligations 
 
 3.2  You must treat others with respect 
 
 3.5  You must not 

 
(b)  bully any person 

 
(e)  conduct yourself in a manner which could reasonably be 

regarded as bringing your or office or the Authority into 
disrepute. 

 
Confidential Information 
 
3.6  You must not: 
 

(a) disclose information given to you in confidence by anyone, or 
information acquired by you which you believe, or ought reasonably 
to be aware, is of a confidential nature, except where: 

 
(i) you have the consent of a person authorised to give it; 
(ii) you are required by law to do so; 
(iii) the disclosure is made to a third party for the purpose of 

obtaining professional advice provided that the third party 
agrees not to disclose the information to any other person; or 

(iv) the disclosure is: 
(aa)  reasonable and in the public interest; and 

Page 21



APPENDIX 1 
 

6 
 

(bb)  made in good faith and in compliance with the  
   reasonable requirements of the Authority. 

  
European Convention on Human Rights (ECHR)  

 
3.7 Section 3 of the Human Rights Act 1998 (HRA) requires that primary and 

subordinate legislation must, as far as possible, be read and given effect in a 
way which is compatible with the Convention rights. By virtue of section 6, it is 
unlawful for a public authority to act in a way that is incompatible with Human 
Rights. 
 

3.8 Article 10 of the ECHR provides:   
 

Freedom of expression   
 
(1) Everyone has the right to freedom of expression. This right shall 
include freedom to hold opinions and to receive and impart information 
and ideas without interference by public authority and regardless of 
frontiers. This article shall not prevent states from requiring the licensing of 
broadcasting, television or cinema enterprises.   
 
(2) The exercise of these freedoms, since it carries with it duties and  
responsibilities, may be subject to such formalities, conditions, restrictions  
or penalties as are prescribed by law and are necessary in a democratic  
society, in the interest of national security, territorial integrity or public 
safety,  for the prevention of disorder or crime, for the protection of health 
or morals,  for the protection of the reputation or rights of others, for 
preventing the  disclosure of information received in confidence, or for 
maintaining the  authority and impartiality of the judiciary. 

 
3.9 In considering these matters it is important to note the words of Collins J in the 

standards case of Livingstone v The Adjudication Panel for England [2006] 
EWHC 2533 (Admin) [at para.39]:  

 
“The burden is on [the Adjudication Panel for England] to justify 
interference with freedom of speech. However offensive and undeserving 
of protection the appellant’s outburst may have appeared to some, it is 
important that any individual knows that he can say what he likes, 
provided it is not unlawful, unless there are clear and satisfactory 
reasons within the terms of Article 10(2) to render him liable to 
sanctions.” 

 
 We have provided relevant Case Law on Article 10 in Annex A. 
 

 
4:  The Investigation 

 
 Our appointment 

 

Page 22



APPENDIX 1 
 

7 
 

4.1 This investigation was conducted by Alex Oram and Mark Hedges. Alex has 
been conducting member conduct investigations since 2003. He was previously 
employed by Standards for England as its principal investigator who was 
responsible for conducting many of their most complex, politically sensitive and 
high-profile investigations into member conduct. Mark has worked for ch&i 
associates since 2017; prior to this he was a Detective in the Police Service for 
21 years. 

 
The complaints 
 

4.2 Councillor Swain’s complaint concerned Councillor Morris’ conduct towards 
certain officers at the start of Council’s District Planning Committee meeting of 
13 August 2020. Councillor Swain alleged that Councillor Morris shouted the 
word ‘corrupt’ as these officers were being introduced.  

 
4.3 Councillor Thompson’s complaint primarily concerned an email that had been 

sent by Councillor Morris to Councillor Mark Heard following the 
aforementioned Planning Committee meeting, in which he had referred to her 
as ‘Cruella. Councillor Thompson also alleged that Councillor Morris had 
consistently talked over her when she was chairing the meeting of the District 
Planning Committee on 13 August 2020 and that his conduct towards other 
members and officers was disrespectful and constituted bullying. Councillor 
Thompson provided details of a previous occasion when Councillor Morris had 
referred to as ‘Cruella’; on the text CHAT function of a Council meeting held on 
23 June 2020. Councillor Thompson stated that Councillor Morris had written 
‘Shut up’, followed by a vague threat concerning a plan to kill puppies in order 
to make a fur coat.  

 
4.4 Councillor Boyce’s complaint referred to a comment allegedly made by 

Councillor Morris during a meeting of the Joint Standards Committee held on 3 
September 2020. Councillor Morris was accused of saying that Councillor 
Boyce was of diminished mental capacity. 

 
4.5 Councillor Channer’s complaint concerned Councillor Morris’ conduct during a 

telephone call with her on 5 February 2021. Councillor Channer alleged 
Councillor Morris made various unfair accusations against her during the call, 
including that she was a bully and had no integrity. Councillor Morris 
subsequently posted a recording of the phone call on Facebook and YouTube. 
Councillor Channer stated that at no point did Councillor Morris make her 
aware that he was recording the call or that he intended to post it onto social 
media. Councillor Channer alleged that Councillor Morris’ actions had been 
premeditated, with the intent on reducing her standing in the community. 
Councillor Channer stated that Councillor Morris’ conduct was disrespectful, 
bullying and brought the Authority into disrepute.  

 
4.6 Councillor Channer also alleged that on 29 October 2020, Councillor Morris 

breached the Code by posting confidential information on Facebook. The 
information, which related to the fact that the then Leader of the Council, Elaine 
Bamford, was under investigation, had been referred to at a Council meeting on 
27 October 2020 during private session. 

Page 23



APPENDIX 1 
 

8 
 

 
4.7 During our investigation into the above, Councillor Channer drew our attention 

to other social media posts published by Councillor Morris that caused her 
concern. We explained that we were unable to specifically consider whether 
these posts represented a breach of the Council’s Code because they had not 
been referenced in the complaint that had been referred to us. We agreed 
though to review them as part of our wider considerations.  

 
Our approach 

 
4.8 During this investigation we have viewed recordings of the District Planning 

Committee meeting on 13 August 2020 and the meetings of the Joint 
Standards Committee on 3 September 2020 and 27 October 2020. We have 
reviewed documents and posts obtained from the Council and on websites 
such as Facebook. We have conducted interviews with Councillor Morris, 
Councillor Swain, Councillor Thompson, Councillor Boyce and Councillor 
Channer. All of the councillors we spoke with were sent a copy of our draft 
report for their comments; these are either reflected in the main body of the 
report or at annex b. It should be noted that we received no comments from 
Councillor Morris. 

 
Background  
 

4.9 In mid-2019, the Council’s then Section 151 Officer left the employment of the 
Council having reached a settlement that included the signing of a 
confidentiality agreement. Councillor Chrisy Morris believed that her departure 
was in some way related to improper conduct on the part of Councillor Fluker 
(at the time, the Leader of the Council), including bullying behaviour.  Councillor 
Morris asked officers if he could see the terms of the confidentiality agreement, 
but was refused access. 
 

4.10 Councillor Morris subsequently approached Councillor Fluker about his 
concerns and was later to allege that Councillor Fluker, when denying having 
any animosity towards the former Section 151 Officer, told Councillor Morris 
that he had lent her a significant sum of money while she was in post to assist 
her with an accountancy business that was struggling. Councillor Morris 
expressed the concern that Councillor Fluker had used this personal loan to 
improperly influence the actions of a statutory officer within the Council. 

 
4.11 On 5 November 2019, the Council’s Legal Officer invited ch&i associates to 

investigate Councillor Morris’ complaint about Councillor Fluker. She told us 
that she believed that Councillor Fluker had told two senior officers within the 
Council of the existence of the loan: Mr Paul Dodson (Director of Strategy, 
Performance and Governance) and Mr Richard Holmes (Director of Service 
Delivery and Head of Paid Service). The Council’s Legal Officer told us though 
that in his initial response to Councillor Morris’ allegation, Councillor Fluker 
denied the allegation had claimed that he had lied to Councillor Morris and the 
two senior officers about the existence of the loan. 

 

Page 24



APPENDIX 1 
 

9 
 

4.12 Councillor Morris told us at the time that his preference was for his complaint to 
be dealt with by the Police rather than as a complaint under the Localism Act. 
With the permission of the Council’s Legal Officer, we spoke with Detective 
Inspector Booth of Maldon Police on 3 and 10 December 2019. DI Booth 
advised that the matter was not currently under investigation because 
Councillor Morris had not followed up on his initial report. It was agreed though 
that we would produce a briefing note on the matter for them. On 30 December 
2019, based on the information we provided to this, the Police informed us that 
we should not look into the matter further because they had opened an 
investigation into the complaint under the umbrella offence of misconduct in a 
public office; and more specifically, on an offence of blackmail in relation to the 
alleged loan between Councillor Fluker and the former Section 151 officer and 
an offence of fraud in relation to a £100,000 grant that had been allocated to 
the Stow Maries project. 
 

4.13 On 14 April 2020, the Police investigation concluded that there was ‘no 
evidence that any criminal offence had occurred. As such they were closing the 
case and taking no further action.’  

 
4.14 In late July 2020, considering the decision made by the Police and the lack of 

any other compelling evidence which supported the allegation, the Council’s 
Monitoring officer took the decision to take no further action with regards 
Councillor Morris’ complaint.  
 
Matters related to Councillor Swain’s complaint 

 
4.15 On 13 August 2020, Councillor Morris attended a meeting of the Council’s 

District Planning Committee via Zoom. The meeting was streamed live on You-
tube. The meeting was initially chaired by Councillor Penny Channer.  

 
4.16 At the beginning of the meeting, Councillor Channer invited the officers present 

to introduce themselves. Paul Dodson was the first officer to do so. Immediately 
after he had done so, a male voice on the recording of the meeting can be 
heard to shout the word ‘corrupt’. After another officer had introduced 
themselves, the Chair invited Richard Holmes to do the same. Before Mr 
Holmes has had a chance to do so, what appears to be the same male voice is 
again heard to shout ‘corrupt’; this occurs again immediately after Mr Holmes 
had made his introduction. When the Monitoring Officer, Mr Simon Quelch, then 
introduces himself, the same male voice again shouted out ‘corrupt’. 

 
4.17 Councillor Swain stated in his subsequent complaint “I feel that I must register a 

formal complaint about Cllr Morris's behaviour towards officers. His abuse and 
haranguing of Mr Holmes and Mr Dodson in public, as well as making 
accusations which appeared to be slanderous, clearly breached the code of 
conduct governing relations between members and officers, who not only could 
not but also had no need to respond in public. The episode was also likely to 
affect and cause embarrassment to other officers in attendance and tend to 
undermine staff relations more widely in the council.” 

 

Page 25



APPENDIX 1 
 

10 
 

4.18 When we spoke to Councillor Morris about the allegation, he told us that he 
could not remember specifically making comments attributed to him by 
Councillor Swain at that particular meeting: ‘Councillor Swain’s complaint 
relates to comments I made about Holmes and Dodson. He didn’t like the way 
that I used the word ‘corruption’. I don’t recall precisely whether I made the 
comments that Councillor Swain objected to because to be honest I have made 
the comments quite a few times. I would have kept on saying it, but the matter 
had now been resolved with the officers. Neither officer has made a complaint 
about my comments and I believe the reason for this is that they knew I was 
right.’ 

 
4.19 Having spoken to Councillor Morris about the matter and carefully reviewed the 

relevant recordings, we are satisfied based on the balance of probabilities that 
it was Councillor Morris who shouted ‘corrupt’ on the three occasions described 
above. This was supported by Councillor Thompson, who told us in her 
comments on the draft report; “I can confirm the male voice in question was 
that of Cllr Morris; I was present and not only heard it but had a clear view of 
him as he said it each time.” 

 
4.20 Councillor Swain told us at interview: ‘Councillor Morris had been berating 

various councillors and to some extent officers for some time, with accusations 
of corruption. This had been mainly directed at councillors. In this meeting 
however his attacks were against the Council directors, accusing them of being 
corrupt. I felt that this was not just going too far, but that it was wrong… I don’t 
feel members should criticise officers in public. This was not an attack on them 
on professional grounds but an attack on their integrity. They were not in a 
position to respond, which is different to members who can do so. I also felt that 
his comments would have an impact on other officers present and have an 
effect on the morale of the council.’ 

 
4.21 Councillor Morris told us that his comments about the three officers stemmed 

from that involvement in his complaint against Councillor Fluker. Councillor 
Morris told us that he had spoken to both Mr Dodson and Mr Holmes about his 
concerns: ‘I asked both officers if they knew about the loan. Both of them told 
me they didn’t. This was a lie. I would have understood if they had told me they 
couldn’t tell me, but they did not. They have now admitted they knew about the 
loan. I told Emma Holmes about this, and she got told to drop it by Simon 
Quelch (the MO). Simon Quelch got told to drop it by Councillor Fluker. This is 
my honestly held belief.” 

 
4.22 During our interview, Councillor Morris told us that his comments about the 

relevant officers was a matter that had already been resolved informally and 
therefore questioned whether it was an investigation that was in the public 
interest: “these matters have been dealt with and it doesn’t need to be all 
dragged up again. I understand the reputation of the Council is important and it 
currently has a bad reputation. I’d like to improve this and having to defend 
myself against these allegations would not help this in my opinion. I have since 
had a meeting with the two officers along with Wendy Stamp, the new leader of 
the Council. The situation was resolved at this meeting.’ 

Page 26



APPENDIX 1 
 

11 
 

Matters related to Councillor Thompson’s complaint 
 
4.23 During the Council’s District Planning Committee meeting of 13 August 2020, 

Councillor Maddie Thompson took over as Chair while a matter in which 
Councillor Channer had declared an interest was being considered. While 
Chair, Councillor Thompson attempted to propose that the relevant item be 
discussed in private session. She was though interrupted by Councillor Morris.  
Councillor Thompson warned Councillor Morris that if he continued to interrupt, 
she would be left with no choice but to close the meeting. Councillor Morris 
continued to interrupt, insisting that a vote be taken before the item was moved 
into private session because the public had a right to know what was 
happening.  
 

4.24 The Monitoring Officer, Mr Quelch, then addressed members and advised them 
of the potential consequences should they vote to consider the matter publicly. 
Councillor Morris, who was by now pictured speaking on the screen, interrupted 
Mr Quelch with the words: ‘we have heard your dodgy advice’. Councillor 
Morris continued to repeat this statement despite attempts to intervene from 
Councillor Thompson and Mr Quelch, with Councillor Thompson again warning 
that she would close the meeting unless Councillor Morris stopped interrupting.  

 
4.25 Councillor Heard then interjected to point out to Councillor Morris that 

Councillor Thompson was attempting to call a vote on whether the agenda item 
should be discussed in private or public, which is what he had called on her to 
do, Councillor Heard called for some calm so that the vote could take place. As 
soon as Councillor Thompson started to speak again however, Councillor 
Morris again interjected. Councillor Thompson told Councillor Morris that she 
was giving him a ‘two and a half warning’. Mr Quelch again attempted to offer 
advice on the matter prior to the vote; while doing so however, Councillor 
Morris continued to talk over him. Eventually Councillor Thompson informed 
members that she was closing the meeting due to Councillor Morris’s continued 
interruption. 
 

4.26 Later that day Councillor Mark Heard, Leader of the Independent Group (at this 
time, Councillor Morris was a member of the Independent Group) emailed all 
members of the Council as follows:  

 
‘It is very rare for me to send out a message to all members but following 
this afternoon’s disgraceful meeting I feel I should. I deeply regret not 
supporting Richard Holmes and Paul Dodson when the constant 
allegations made by Cllr Morris cannot be addressed by the officers 
themselves who are obliged to remain neutral to any administration with 
no right of reply, (particularly at a planning meeting!) Please do not take 
my silence on the matter to imply any perceived guilt on their part. Even if 
a comment was made to or overheard by them, they cannot possibly know 
if it was true or not; if it IS true then only two people know it as a fact - the 
rest is rumour and hearsay. I am confident that this matter has been 
properly reported, investigated and found not to be illegal. IF it happened - 
it is at the very best foolish and unwise, although as a private loan NOT 
illegal UNLESS something else was asked for because of the loan. I have 

Page 27



APPENDIX 1 
 

12 
 

heard nothing to suggest this. This afternoon the correct procedure was 
followed to vote to (rightly) have the legal advice given in private, then an 
open and public debate afterwards in open session. The vote wasn't even 
allowed to take place, my vote and your vote was cancelled because of 
unacceptable behaviour in the meeting which I do not condone. I will look 
into this allegation if allowed to ensure all proper procedures were 
followed. If not, I will expect an explanation, but I will act professionally. 
Members I hope you too show the support Richard and Paul deserve.’ 

 
4.27 On 14 August 2020, Councillor Morris responded to Councillor Heard’s email, 

copying in all members of the Council.  
 

“Without prejudice. Dear Mark. Thank you for your email dated 13th 
August 2020, I must say it is probably the closest I will ever feel to being 
mugged by an old, damp, grey flannel in my lifetime. Seeing as we are 
exchanging opinions, I feel it necessary to share mine. You're a melt. As 
an opposition leader you have been as useful as an ashtray on a 
motorbike. That mumbling corpse Brian Harker has been a better 
opposition leader than you. I now know why Fluker would always grin 
when you were about to speak and if you had your head out of his arse for 
long enough, you'd have noticed it too. Where was your distain when Carly 
was thinking Fluker was threatening her? Why so quiet when Richard was 
mocked in front of you? Did you predetermine with the flukerites 
getting Cruella in the chair? Seemed so! Do you really believe that if an 
independent was foolish or unwise that Fluker and his mates wouldn't 
jump up and down on them like a kid on a new trampoline? For an ex-
policeman you sure are a snowflake! I have asked the CLT jokers if they 
were told by Fluker about the loan and they have run to the hills after lying 
to us BOTH in that meeting. It's a shame you are supporting financial 
impropriety and cover ups. You have known Fluker longer than me, but I 
can assure you, I know that man wouldn't lend or give away a thing unless 
it benefited him. Then [former section 151 officer] gets paid off and 
gagged! And the books are late. 'Nothing to see here!' I wish I had the 
patience, and the crayons, to explain this to you. "You will look into the 
allegation”… n what are you? MDC's version of Clint Eastwood? That's the 
job of JSC you hero, are you saying that to try and act tough in front of 
everyone? Fluker and the flukerites will pat you on the head and give you 
a bonio you wally. "There's a gooood boooooy!’ Your silence about 
Fluker’s JSC was deafening. Did Holmesy and Doders come running to 
you because I caught them out? If that ever happens, with anyone, please 
look them in the eyes and say .... "You do know Chrisy don't give a fuck, 
right?" That's what I said to you at Costa that time when you got given the 
errand of asking me to wear a tie for Holmesy, remember? Simply (sic) 
fact is that you did nothing - ever - when serious bullying, threats and 
financial impropriety was happening. I can forgive people doing nothing 
(even though we are supposed to be more than bystanders) but I can't 
stick a person that watches a fight and then at the end tries to jump in as 
the winner. You really should have called me for a chat. You are no longer 
on my Christmas card list and I fart in your general direction. Please 
remember that you will never dislike me as much as I don't care. Fluker 

Page 28



APPENDIX 1 
 

13 
 

will be laughing his head off right now but rest assured, he won't be 
laughing long. Yours youllgetnorespectfrommeanymore, Chrisy Morris. Ps, 
You're a melt. 
 

4.28 Councillor Thompson, who was copied into the email, subsequently 
complained about its content to the Council’s Monitoring Officer, stating that 
the email: “shows disrespect both to members and officers generally and in 
the particular reference to me; and, in fact, bullying. In the meeting referred to 
that I chaired I was shouted over to the point that business could not be 
conducted. I told Cllr Morris that I would give three warnings before closing 
the meeting and he continued with his disruption. I discounted a certain 
amount of muttering and grumbling from him, counting only his loud and 
obnoxious attempts to take over the meeting. To his evident surprise I did 
close the meeting after my third warning to him, so no member was able to 
exercise their democratic rights as elected representatives to determine the 
business in front of the District Planning Committee. I left the meeting at that 
point but returned a little later, when there was still some discussion of what 
had occurred. Cllr Morris shouted at me, accused me (and possibly others, it 
was not made clear) of 'bullying a grieving mother to the point of suicide' and 
shouted that he had no respect for me. I believe several officers remained in 
the meeting at this time and could probably confirm at least some of this. The 
"Cruella" jibe had come up previously in the CHAT function of a meeting 
(Council, 23/6/2020). My messages are shown with a blue background. 
There is a clear demand from Cllr Morris to "shut up" followed by a threat that 
was vague as to its content but obviously intended to associate me with the 
101 Dalmatians character Cruella de Vil, who planned to kill the puppies in 
order to make a fur coat.”  

 
4.29 In response to Councillor Thompson’s concerns, Councillor Morris told us: ‘I 

understand she is complaining that I referred to her in an email as a Disney 
cartoon villain. This is the same woman that called two of her own colleagues 
‘bastards1’ in the chamber in a Full Council meeting. [She] is complaining that 
she has been referred to as a Disney Cartoon villain in a private email. She was 
given this nickname by her own colleagues long before I was a member of the 
Council. I had made a complaint about her calling her colleagues ‘bastards’ and 
this was her response. Other councillors witnessed her calling her colleagues 
bastards, I did not witness it myself but was told about it. No one confirmed it at 
the time of the meeting which was why I didn’t make a complaint at the time. I 
consider that her comments in the Chamber were too far. I am quite near the 

                                                 
1
 This assertion is not a matter that we have been asked to consider. We understand though that 

Councillor Thompson told us though: “I have admitted to using the word “bastards”; however, Cllr 
Morris implies this was called out, which it was not. I was astonished and incensed that two new 
members who had just signed a copy of the Group rules and agreed to abide by them had just failed 
to support a Conservative motion that, as a result, we nearly lost. None of that excuses what I said, 
and I did apologise afterwards to the member I felt had been misled by the other, though she was, in 
fact, unaware that I had said it. I did not apologise to the other member as the conversation I had with 
him straight after the meeting was about his failure to support the group being out of order, and I did 
not think at the time about what I had muttered during the meeting. When Cllr Morris eventually made 
a complaint about this incident it was resolved informally, however the matter will remain on my 
record and be referred to should there be any further complaints about me, therefore I wasn’t “let off 
scot-free by Mr Quelch” as Cllr Morris has said since.” 

Page 29



APPENDIX 1 
 

14 
 

mark, but this was too much particularly in light of the fact that Councillor Fluker 
also made throat cutting gestures towards the same members2. Councillor 
Thompson has admitted that she did call her colleagues ‘bastards’. I have a 
thick skin but I considered that both the throat slitting gesture and the use of the 
word ‘bastards’ was too much. I am also aware that the Conservative group’s 
nickname for me is ‘fucking’, which is a lot more disrespectful. I don’t regard the 
comments in my email as disrespectful because Councillor Thompson was 
named this by her own group members. Other members have got away with a 
lot more disrespectful comments such as Councillor Sue White who called an 
officer a ‘fucking tosser’ but only had to send an apology.’  
 

4.30 At interview, Councillor Thompson told us: ‘The nickname ‘Cruella’ is not a 
nickname instigated by members of the Conservative Group. I have asked 
around and no one had ever heard of it before. It is possible that people were 
not going to tell me this, but I have never known it to be used before. The first I 
knew about this term was when Councillor Morris alluded to it in the Chat 
function of a Council meeting. I have included this chat in my complaint. 
Basically, Councillor Morris wrote ‘shut up Maddie or we will have to start 
talking about puppies and your coat’, which I regarded as a threat. This was in 
June 2020. It’s politics and I have a thick skin, but Councillor Morris is always 
making comments of this nature. He has called other members ‘coffin dodgers’ 
and I am aware of the comments he made against Councillor Boyce. Councillor 
Morris goes on and on about bullying and homophobia but is quite happy to 
make comments about other members' advanced age. He can’t have it both 
ways.’ 

 
Matters related to Councillor Boyce’s complaint 

 
4.31 On 3 September 2020, the Council’s Joint Standards Committee held two 

meetings. At the first, the Committee heard a complaint from Councillor Siddall 
against Councillor Adrian Fluker; they concluded that Councillor Fluker had 
failed to comply with the Code. Councillor Morris attended as a spectator, 
though he was removed during the meeting for disruptive behaviour.  
 

4.32 By way of background, the conduct alleged by Councillor Siddall had in part 
already been considered by the Committee on 30 January 2020 following 
allegations against Councillor Fluker which had been made by, among others, 
Councillor Morris. On 30 January 2020, the Committee had concluded that 
Councillor Fluker had not breached the Code of Conduct; this went against the 
recommendations of the investigator. Councillor Morris told us that he had been 
left very frustrated by the standards process because he had been attempting 
to highlight concerns about the conduct of Councillor Fluker for a long time and 
made more than one complaint about his conduct.  

 
4.33 At their second meeting of 3 September 2020, the Committee considered an 

investigation report addressing complaints that had been made against 
Councillor Morris. The Committee concluded that Councillor Morris had not 

                                                 
2
 This is a matter that was considered at the Standards Committee meeting of 3 September 2020, 

which is referred to in more detail later in this report.  

Page 30



APPENDIX 1 
 

15 
 

breached the Code of Conduct, which went against the recommendation of the 
investigator. The full meeting is available on You-tube here. It was at this 
meeting that Councillor Morris made the comments attributed to him in 
Councillor Boyce’s complaint. 

 
4.34 One of the complaints under consideration had been submitted by a member of 

the public, who had alleged Councillor Morris had failed to treat Councillor 
Boyce with respect during a Council meeting on 13 February 2020. The 
investigation had concluded that during the meeting Councillor Morris had said 
that Councillor Boyce, who was Chair of the meeting, was too old and should 
quit.3  

 
4.35 Speaking in his own defence at the Committee meeting of 3 September 2020, 

Councillor Morris stated [at 2hrs26mins]: ‘Everyone is making a big thing about 
Bob. About me saying that Bob was too old to do the job. Now let me just take 
you back. Before, when I tried to sort out this bullying culture, I sat down with 
Bob. We sat in the members room and Bob was watching the Sweeney. So, I 
sat with Bob and we both watched the Sweeney, and we had a nice old chat. I 
said, informally to Bob: “Bob, you know what’s going on.  It ain’t right. Fluker’s 
bullying Councillor Siddall. Things are not right here.” I asked Bob if he could 
resolve it informally. To not bring the Council into disrepute. To not put out our 
dirty washing in public. I asked him if he was happy. And he turned to me and 
he said quite simply “Chrisy, I am too old”. He told me that. Now there are other 
councillors. And there are other councillors in this meeting right now that have 
confirmed that. One of the councillors, who I won’t mention, even though I feel 
like I should have because I feel they’re not being that fair, actually told me that 
Bob would not have let this happen ten years ago. And he is being manipulated 
by Fluker. And he is diminished because of his age. I’m not having a go at him 
for being old. I like old people. I’m an old person myself. What I am saying is 
that he is not the man he was. Ten years ago this would not have happened 
and that has been confirmed by senior Conservatives. So, I’m not having a go 
at him for being old. I’m simply pointing out that he is past his best. When you 
get given an MBE, OBE whatever it is, that is a polite way of saying ‘you are 
past it’. Now I’m sorry if my truth offends.” 

 
4.36 The Chair of the Committee meeting, Councillor Helm, interjected at this point 

to state that he felt that Councillor Morris’s comments were very offensive about 
a man who had dedicated his life to the Council. Councillor Morris responded: 
‘It’s not offensive. It’s the truth. He got booted out of the County Council 
because he’s past his best. He’s a nice old boy. I actually quite liked him. I’d 
like to think it wasn’t his age.” 

 
4.37 After further interjection from the Chair, asking Councillor Morris to confine 

himself to the report, Councillor Morris stated: ‘Fluker would not have got away 
with what he got away with if Bob was ten years younger. That is something 
that a Tory councillor has told me.’ The Chair asked Councillor Morris why he 
was bringing up Councillor Fluker when the report had nothing to with him. 
Councillor Morris responded: ‘This situation is because of Councillor Fluker. I 

                                                 
3
 Councillor Boyce had not made a complaint about these comments. 

Page 31

https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=Rw7NjBaVZ-M&t=9050s


APPENDIX 1 
 

16 
 

would not have had to bring this up if Councillor Fluker wasn’t a homophobic, 
woman threatening bully. You’ve allowed it, Michael, you’ve allowed it. You 
supported it. 

 
4.38 The meeting then continued, culminating in the Committee deciding that 

Councillor Morris had not failed to comply the Code of Conduct. 
 

4.39 Councillor Boyce told us at interview: ‘Councillor Morris was elected two years 
ago. He has attacked me, abused me, bullied me whilst I was Chairman, with 
the aid of Councillor Siddall and Councillor Fleming, who sided with him. This 
was reported to standards, but the Committee said that as I had not made a 
complaint, he was not guilty. I did not make a complaint because I was 
Chairman and considered I was fair game. Usually there is respect for the 
Chair, if not the person in the Chair. In my view Councillor Morris has treated 
the Council with disrespect at all times. He will make noises during meetings, 
bring food in, make phone calls during meetings and put his feet up on the 
desk. He has been rude to officers making presentations. When I heard 
Councillor Morris make the comment that I had diminished mental capacity, I 
did not think it was an off the cuff remark. I took it as a deliberate attack on 
myself because of my age. I do recall saying to Councillor Morris ‘I’m too old for 
this’. It was a sarcastic comment made by me. He has put a meaning into this 
comment that was not intended. This is not the same as me saying I have 
diminished mental capacity which implies that he has some degree of medical 
knowledge. I can’t remember what context I made these comments, but I 
certainly did not say that I had diminished mental capacity.’ 

 
4.40 In response to this allegation, Councillor Morris told us: ‘In relation to the 

complaint made against me by Councillor Boyce I would say that at the Joint 
Standards Committee hearing no one else seemed to have a problem with 
what I said. The Chair didn’t tell me that it was out of order. I believe I said that 
Councillor Boyce is diminished mentally. All members know that Councillor 
Boyce has some issues. I spoke to Councillor Boyce, who was the Chair, at 
length one day about the way that Councillor Fluker was behaving. Councillor 
Boyce said to me ‘Chrisy, I’m too old’. I was trying to sort things out informally. 
A lot of people think that Councillor Boyce is a good old boy, but he is not 
actually doing what he should be doing in my opinion. If you are past it, then 
you should make way for someone that will be useful to the Council. I’ve been 
told by a top political adviser that many people advised Councillor Boyce to 
retire from his duties when he was awarded an MBE and that this is supposed 
to be a going away present. As well as telling me he was too old, he also told 
Councillor Jarvis something similar. Councillor Jarvis stated this at the Joint 
Standards Committee meeting. Other Conservative members have also told me 
that Councillor Boyce isn’t the man he was, that he is diminished. I don’t want 
to name these members unless I have to. I don’t regard the comment I made 
was disrespectful because it was the truth. I liked Councillor Boyce, until I found 
out that he was corrupt or had allowed himself to be corrupted by Councillor 
Fluker in relation to a Joint Standards Committee hearing against Councillor 

Page 32



APPENDIX 1 
 

17 
 

Fluker4. At this point I lost respect for Councillor Boyce. I don’t deem it 
disrespectful to tell the truth, it is disrespectful to lie which is what Councillor 
Boyce did.’ 
 

4.41 In her comments on the draft report, Councillor Channer made the point that 
she had been at the Standards Committee meeting and had been offended by 
it at the time: “I consider that comments made in the meeting by Councillor 
Morris were derogatory towards Councillor Boyce and hence even added 
weight to the way I voted. Age is a Protected Characteristic under the Equality 
Act. I am afraid I do not necessarily concur that what he said about Councillor 
Boyce was by way of explanation of his previous comments issued in the 
Chamber, when Councillor Boyce was Chairman. I took the comment which 
Councillor Boyce has made a complaint about as additional to those previously 
made by Councillor Morris. I found it derogatory, offensive and disrespectful 
and flying in the face of the Equalities Act.” 

 
 
 

 Matters related to Councillor Channer’s complaints 
 
4.42 On 25 October 2020, Councillor Morris submitted two complaints to the 

Monitoring Officer; one about his own conduct and one about Councillor 
Bamford’s. In relation to Councillor Bamford, he stated  “cllr Bamford has lied to 
cllr Morris by denying she agreed to provide the participants of a meeting with 
the recording of it, also that she was aware of a loan that was subject to an 
investigation by admittance from the accused party and was accomplice to it by 
silence, thus bringing the council into disrepute.” [sic] 
 

4.43 In his email, Councillor Morris requested that his complaint be assessed by the 
Council’s Joint Standards Committee rather than by the Monitoring Officer or 
his deputy on the grounds that they had a conflict of interest. 
 

4.44 On 27 October 2020, Councillor Channer attended a meeting of the Council’s 
Joint Standards Committee. Councillor Morris was also in attendance; unlike 
Councillor Channer however, Councillor Morris was not a member of the 
Committee. 
 

4.45 After an hour and two minutes of the meeting, the Chair of the Committee 
(Councillor Helm) proposed that the meeting go into private session so that the 
Committee could consider complaints that had been made by an unnamed 
councillor against himself and another member. Councillor Helm told members 
that the two complaints were connected to each other and that members would 
likely already be aware of them because the complainant had already told all 
members about the matter.  

 
4.46 The minutes of the meeting state: “EXCLUSION OF THE PUBLIC AND 

PRESS. RESOLVED that under Section 100A (4) of the Local Government Act 

                                                 
4
 Councillor Boyce was one of the councillors who had heard the complaint made by Councillor Morris 

against Councillor Fluker at the Standards Committee meeting of 30 January 2020. 

Page 33



APPENDIX 1 
 

18 
 

1972 the public be excluded from the meeting for the following item(s) of 
business on the grounds that they involve the likely disclosure of exempt 
information as defined in Paragraphs 1 and 6b of Part 1 of Schedule 12A to the 
Act, and that this satisfies the public interest test.” 

 
4.47 On 29 October 2020, Councillor Morris posted a picture of the then Leader of 

the Council’s Conservative Group, Councillor Bamford5 on Facebook. The post 
attached to this picture read:  
 

‘The new conservative leader of Maldon district council is under 
investigation after she admitted knowledge of a loan between former 
disgraced leader, Adrian Fluker and a former financial officer, who swiftly 
left the council and was given a large financial settlement which assured 
her silence, after accusations that the loan was made to encourage the 
chief finance officer to 'cook the books' and put undue influence on her. 
The council's books were late for the first time in decades and auditors 
reported they had concerns. She admitted that Fluker had told her about 
the loan in a meeting with several other councillors present, who can 
confirm that. She has now refused to supply the recording of that meeting 
after promising she would, because it is incriminating. She sat in the 
chamber whilst Fluker lied to us and watched me be vilified when she 
knew I was telling the truth. I would like to know if she remained silent 
because she was bullied or was she complicit? Either way, she is not fit to 
be leader as this shows a lack of integrity and honesty, she doesn't have 
the strength to be leader if she cannot stand up when she is aware of 
bullying and lies" said outspoken Councillor Chrisy Morris. "We now have 
what may prove to be the 'smoking gun' - 17 council credit cards that may 
prove impropriety and be the reason some councillors and officers are so 
eager to get this brushed under the carpet. I know the residents may see 
this as petty but in order to best serve them, those who allowed the 
criminal behaviour to happen in the past should not be involved in its 
future. Hopefully the culture will change on the 5th of November when a 
switch from loyalty to political party, to residents and community will 
happen". Added Councillor Morris. More to follow.’ 

 
4.48 Councillor Channer told us: “On 29 October 2020, Councillor Morris posted on 

Facebook the name of the councillor, their position in the Council at that time, 
and that they were under investigation and detail. He could have only known 
about this if someone on the Committee told him or he was the complainant. He 
has then breached the confidentiality of this information, placing on social 
media in the public domain. I believe this is a breach of the Code of Conduct.”  

 
4.49 Councillor Morris told us: ‘My belief is that Council business is public business. I 

did post that Elaine Bamford was under investigation. I believe that I was the 
complainant in what the Joint Standards Committee was discussing, and I think 
I was present at the meeting. But the meeting was put into a private session, so 
I was not party to any discussions after that. I was therefore unaware that the 

                                                 
5
 Councillor Bamford has since resigned her position on the Council. For the purposes of this report 

however we will continue to refer to her as Councillor Bamford.  

Page 34



APPENDIX 1 
 

19 
 

complaint was being treated as private and confidential. I had no reason to 
believe it was private and confidential. I wouldn’t know what was discussed in 
the private session. I had put a complaint in and so I was aware that a 
complaint had been made against Councillor Bamford. I think the public have a 
right to know. I was never told that it was private and confidential.’6 

 
4.50 On 4 February 2021, Councillor Channer and Councillor Morris attended a 

meeting of the full Council. One of the agenda items at this meeting concerned 
a climate change emergency statement. After Councillor Fluker had contributed 
to the debate on the item, Councillor Morris said that he did not think Councillor 
Fluker was the best person to make comments on the environment given that 
he drove a massively polluting car. Councillor Fluker said that he drove one of 
the cleanest petrol cars available. Councillor Channer then raised a point of 
order, stating that it was not an appropriate remark for Councillor Morris to 
make and that he was making things very personal. Councillor Channer then 
discouraged debate on the point of order, saying that she would deal with the 
matter outside the chamber.  
 

4.51 The following day [at 12:44] Councillor Morris telephoned Councillor Channer. 
Councillor Morris told us that he decided to make the call because Councillor 
Channer had stated that she would ‘deal with the matter outside the chamber’; 
he had presumed that she would subsequently contact him but when she did 
not, he decided to contact her. 

 
4.52 The following is a transcript of the call, which was recorded7 by Councillor 

Morris without Councillor Channer’s knowledge: 
 
Cllr Channer:  Hello 
Cllr Morris:  Hello is that Penny? 
Cllr Channer: Yes, it is 
Cllr Morris:  How are you doing Penny? It’s Chrisy 
Cllr Channer:  I’m alright thank you 
Cllr Morris:  Good good. Good good. Just a nice little friendly personal 

one. You said last night at the meeting mate that ‘I will 
deal with this outside’, so I thought I’d give you a tinkle 
and see…. 

Cllr Channer:  That wasn’t to do with you. That wasn’t directed at you. It 
was to do with Mark Heard, the Chairman. 

Cllr Morris:  Got it. Wasn’t it concerning me though Penny? 
Cllr Channer:  Oh well. Yeah, it was actually. The comments you made I 

didn’t like at all. The cars and everything and then what 
was it? Dogs and lamp posts. 

Cllr Morris:  Yeah. Yep. Sorry mate. Is any of that untrue as you see 
it? 

                                                 
6
 It should be noted that ch&i associates were initially appointed to also investigate this matter. We 

subsequently wrote to Councillor Morris on 10 November 2020 to stress the importance for keeping 
the matter confidential. This of course though occurred after Councillor Morris’ disclosure on 
Facebook.  
7
 The recording was made by Councillor Morris using a video camera. He can be seen and heard 

speaking throughout. Councillor Channer’s side of the conversation is also clearly audible. 

Page 35



APPENDIX 1 
 

20 
 

Cllr Channer:  Well I drive a car. Yeah, I do see it a bit untrue actually. 
Cllr Morris:  What you see is untrue - that a guy that’s got a gas 

guzzling Mercedes - that’s his own words - is trying to 
lecture everyone about the environment. Me and you 
both know Penny that Fluker don’t care about nothing but 
himself. He ain’t bothered about the environment. We 
both know that. And the pretence that you are trying to 
put forward, is that you do.  

Cllr Channer:  Hang on here. I wasn’t putting forward any pretence at 
all. What I was referring to was in a statement given to 
the Council actually and debated on. And the then Leader 
of the opposition gave comments on it.  There was no 
pretence there. 

Cllr Morris:  Mate, so what’s that got about me bringing up that the 
guy’s… 

Cllr Channer:  I think it was getting personal. 
Cllr Morris:  What has that got to do with me? It’s always been 

personal Penny.  You sat in that chamber when it’s been 
very personal. You sat through the homophobic slurs. 
You sat through the bullying. Your own councillors were 
getting throat slit gestures done at them and you said 
nothing. So, it’s a little bit rich now that you’re 
complaining about a lamp post comment and someone 
that’s driving a gas guzzling Mercedes, his own words. 
You know, trying to preach about the environment. 

Cllr Channer:  Just a minute, I did not see, and I’ve always maintained, 
and it’s the truth. I did not see the throat slitting. Neither 
did I hear the ‘Hello sailor’ bit. 

Cllr Morris:  You knew it happened though didn’t you. You didn’t hear 
it. My God, were you not in the room? Everyone else 
heard it. You’ve got a very, very selective memory then 
Penny haven’t you? I suppose you weren’t around when 
Miriam was getting bullied almost to death? I suppose 
you weren’t around when Fiona Marshall was getting 
bullied? I suppose you weren’t around when Emma Foy 
was getting bribed and bullied? You’ve sat through and 
watched all of that Penny. And you suffered that. And 
now that the shoe is on the other foot, you can’t take it. 

Cllr Channer:  Have you finished? 
Cllr Morris:  No, I’ve got plenty more. I’m giving you a chance to 

respond.  
Cllr Channer:  I’m not going to respond to that because you know 

nothing… know nothing about what I may have been 
through. So there we go. 

Cllr Morris:  Right. So if you have been through stuff like that, then 
maybe you should have a little bit more empathy for the 
other people.  And if you do go through stuff like that 
Penny, I will help you.  Yeah. If you’re getting bullied. 

Cllr Channer:  You may not even know what I may have done at those 
times and I really don’t have to explain…. 

Page 36



APPENDIX 1 
 

21 
 

Cllr Morris:  You didn’t do enough, I know that. You didn’t do enough. 
You sat there. You sat there and watched it happen.  You 
knew it was happening. We spoke about it at the time. 
You knew it was happening. You just didn’t want to put 
your head above the trench, did you? You didn’t want to 
bother. You was waiting for your time. You was waiting 
for everyone else to pick themselves off and then it was 
going to be you that was going to come forward and claim 
victory and be the saviour. That’s what you was doing 
mate.   

Cllr Channer:  You know nothing about me. 
Cllr Morris:  Mate, I know enough. I know you sat there and watched 

people almost get bullied to death. People were thinking 
of suicide because of what was going on at that Council 
and you watched it. And you allowed it to happen.  

Cllr Channer:  So, I’m solely responsible am I? 
Cllr Morris:  Didn’t say that did I? I said you watched it and allowed it 

to happen. So did a lot of the others. And that’s why I’ve 
got not a lot of time. Because you guys have got no 
integrity. 

Cllr Channer:  I don’t have to be insulted by you. 
Cllr Morris:  I’m not insulting you. If you want, I can start insulting you. 

I’m not insulting you. I’m telling you the truth as I see it. 
Now everytime that we have a little tit a tat in a Council 
meeting you’re like ‘Oh well, I’m going to deal with this 
outside” and “I’ll be bringing this up”. You suffered one of 
your own councillors saying ‘Shut her up.’ Tried to blame 
it on me in the last Council and what have you done 
about that? Is it… so it’s ok for your own councillors when 
you’re all Tories together. It’s ok for them to be doing stuff 
like that. But you jump up and down like a kid on a new 
trampoline when someone else does it. You’ve got no 
integrity. 

Cllr Channer:  Right, thank you very much, thank you for your phone 
call.  
Cllr Morris:  Thank you 
Cllr Morris:     [to camera] There you go. Mate they sat there, they 

watched that all go on and they ignored it. I can’t stand 
em. 

 
4.53 The video recording of the conversation was almost immediately posted to 

Youtube [at 14:10] and Facebook by Councillor Morris using his profile ‘Chrisy 
Morris. The Facebook post, dated 5 February 2020, stated: ‘Now that the 
Tories at my local council are out of power, they seem to have become all 
moral! They had nothing to say when they were threatening and bullying people 
but get all wobbly when I point out that a guy that I know isn't being sincere 
about his environmental credentials and admits to having a 'gas guzzling' car. 
When the independents were in opposition, we still had our residents’ interests 
at heart. These Tories, they just look to sabotage. There's no room in local 

Page 37



APPENDIX 1 
 

22 
 

government for these pathetic political games - all time and effort should be 
spent on improving the lives of the residents.’ 

 
4.54 We have reviewed the Facebook profile ‘Chrisy Morris’. There is no mention of 

his role as a member of Maldon District Council in the details of his profile. 
Councillor Morris does though regularly post about Maldon District Council and 
individual members of the Council.  

 
4.55 Councillor Channer told us that in her view the phone call and subsequent 

publication of the recording was a premeditated act designed to intimidate and 
bully her: ‘I am very concerned about the phone call that Councillor Morris 
made to me, which he has recorded without my knowledge and posted to 
YouTube and Facebook. He has used it as a vehicle to try and discredit me. He 
has, to my mind, an obsessive hatred of Conservatives. Councillor Morris does 
not, from what I have observed, discuss issues of scheduled Council business, 
which is in the Chamber. He does not, from my observations, really engage in 
proper challenge and proper debate. What he does is that he attacks 
individuals and is accusatory. I feel that he picks on individuals in a personal 
way in an attempt to damage integrity. He does this in what I would describe as 
being in a bullying, intimidatory, harassing and somewhat threatening manner.” 

 
4.56 Councillor Channer also highlighted to us that Councillor Morris had published 

further posts about her since this post. She told us: ‘The video he posted to 
Facebook and YouTube is not a one off. He subsequently posted a picture to 
Facebook of me sitting next to Councillor Fluker and made comments about me 
not seeing or hearing what Councillor Fluker had said at a particular Council 
meeting. Also, since this complaint was made, he has now posted again to 
Facebook showing a picture of me during a Zoom meeting and comparing it to 
my official Council photograph, which the press obtained through the Council’s 
website, with comments about my appearance. Councillor Morris has accused 
me of being dishonest with my photo and with my politics. He is now circulating 
posts about me on Instagram, the Heybridge Independents site. Plus, there is a 
post on his own ‘Councillor Chrisy Morris’ Facebook site under Community.’ 

 
4.57 Councillor Channer told us that Councillor Morris’ continued harassment of her 

had detrimentally impacted on her ability to sleep and was affecting her work. 
She told us that as a result, members of her family had urged her to resign as a 
member of the Council. Councillor Channer told us: “If I go then, I consider, he 
will start on the next person. He is now targeting myself, along with three other 
colleagues. Councillor Morris has a lot of followers and I believe he is trying to 
incite hatred amongst his social media followers.” 

 
4.58 Councillor Morris rejected the allegation that his telephone call was intimidating 

or even approached harassment: “I was not abusive to her during the call, 
everything I said during that call was a fact. She insinuated in the Chamber that 
she wanted to talk to me by saying she would take it up outside the meeting, so 
I assumed she wanted to speak to me, and I thought I’d give her the 
opportunity to do so. I believe I was polite during the conversation.”  

 

Page 38



APPENDIX 1 
 

23 
 

4.59 Councillor Morris also denied calling Councillor Channer with the intention of 
publishing the recording, telling us: “I told her in the phone call that the 
conversation was just between me and her. I recorded the call just in case she 
made claims that I had abused her, which she has in her complaint.” Councillor 
Morris told us that he only took the decision to publish it after he had received a 
phone call informing him that Councillor Channer had complained about his 
conduct. Councillor Morris said that by doing this, it was Councillor Channer 
who had effectively put the matter into the public domain. 

 
4.60 In relation to the subsequent publication of the recording, Councillor Morris told 

us: ‘I did not tell Councillor Channer that I was recording the conversation or 
circulating the recording on Facebook. My understanding is that I do not need 
to do either of these things. I was not acting as a councillor during this 
conversation. The conversation was not about Council business. It was about 
her trying to call me out in the Chamber. I referred to her as Penny during the 
call. I believe I am allowed to talk about things outside the Chamber. I don’t 
care if this goes to the Joint Standards Committee or not as if it does it will give 
me a soapbox to highlight to a new audience about what has happened and 
what I’m trying to achieve, which is transparency, leadership and honesty.” 

 
4.61 In response to the allegation that he was using social media to bully and harass 

Councillor Channer, Councillor Morris told us: “We are public representatives 
and need to have a thick skin. If Councillor Channer thinks that I am bullying 
and harassing her, then did she not think that what has happened to other 
people was bullying. I think that what I am doing is being straight talking and 
pulling people up on the inconsistencies of what they were saying. Councillor 
Channer has sat through some of the worst bullying I have experienced and 
done nothing. She has also had two members of her own group, Councillor’s 
Boyce and Morley, both tell her to shut up in a meeting and she has not 
complained about it. This is a politically motivated complaint.” 

 

5:  Has Councillor Morris failed to comply with the Code of 
Conduct? 
 

 Capacity 
 
5.1 Before we make a recommendation as to whether Councillor Morris’s conduct 

amounts to a failure to comply with the Code of Conduct, we need to decide if 
he was acting as a councillor (i.e. acting in his official capacity) at the relevant 
time. 
 

5.2 Section 27(2) of the Localism Act 2011 requires all relevant authorities to adopt 
a code of conduct "dealing with the conduct that is expected of members ... 
when they are acting in that capacity" (my emphasis). The Council has 
reiterated this in its own Code. 

 
5.3 Councillor Morris was clearly conducting Council business when attending the 

Planning Committee meeting of 13 August 2020 and when addressing 
concerns that had been raised about his conduct at that meeting via email. 
Councillor Morris was similarly in attendance at the meeting of the Joint 

Page 39



APPENDIX 1 
 

24 
 

Standards Committee on 3 September because he was a councillor. We are 
therefore satisfied that the matters raised by Councillors Swain, Thomson and 
Boyce fall within the scope of the Code. 

 
5.4 Looking then at Councillor Channer’s complaint; Councillor Morris told us that 

he was not acting as a councillor during his conversation with Councillor 
Channer or posting it on Facebook. As part of our consideration on this point, it 
is relevant that Councillor Morris’ Facebook account is clearly on that is private 
to him (in that it was set up personally by him and not by the Council) and does 
not immediately identify him as a member of the Council.   

 
5.5 In offering our own views on this, we recognise that the Localism Act is vague 

on the key point of what acting in ‘official capacity’ involves. Nor do we have 
any case law arising from the Localism Act to assist us on this. What we do 
have, however, is well established case law from earlier hearings. Whilst the 
wording in the current Code varies slightly from the previous model codes of 
conduct, cases concerning the former model codes remain of relevance as to 
how Councils must interpret what ‘official capacity’ means. 
 

5.6 Under the previous legislation, a fairly restrictive view on capacity was generally 
taken by the Adjudication Panel for England, the First Tier Tribunal (Local 
Government Standards) and the High Court. In the standards case of 
“Livingstone v The Adjudication Panel for England [2006]” Mr Justice Collins 
considered the question of official capacity. On the facts of that case, Collins J 
found that Mayor Livingstone’s offensive comments to a journalist were not 
sufficiently connected to his position as Mayor as to engage the Code of 
Conduct, despite them being made as he was leaving an official function.  Mr 
Justice Collins rejected the finding of an earlier Tribunal (that Mayor 
Livingstone’s conduct had brought his office into disrepute) on the basis that he 
was not acting in his official capacity at the relevant time: “it is important to 
maintain the distinction between the man and his office, even in the case of 
high-profile individuals.” 

 
5.7 Maintaining this distinction can be particularly difficult when it comes to the use 

of social media. On platforms such as Facebook and Twitter, councillors can 
often have ‘blurred identities’, where they use the same account to comment 
both as a councillor and as an individual; for example, using the same 
Facebook account a councillor posts about a great night out (personal) and 
then explains their authority’s position on pothole repairs (councillor). Such 
blurred identities can have implications where a councillor’s individual views are 
taken as those of their organisation or political party, rather than their personal 
opinion.  

 
5.8 Judge Laverick specifically considered the use of social media by a councillor in 

First Tier Tribunal Case No. LGS/2011/0537. When considering the capacity in 
which a councillor was writing in an online blog, Judge Laverick took the view it 
was perfectly reasonable for a councillor to write posts in their private capacity 
even if they clearly identified themselves as a councillor. The key determining 
factor is whether the content of the post / message is sufficiently connected to 
Council business to engage the Code; to consider otherwise was found to be a 

Page 40



APPENDIX 1 
 

25 
 

disproportionate restriction of an individual’s freedom of speech and right to a 
private life. Judge Laverick accepted that under those circumstances a 
councillor could make offensive and possibly defamatory comments that may 
affect the reputation of their Council without necessarily engaging that Council’s 
Code of Conduct. 

 
5.9 This issue was further considered by Judge Lister in First Tier Tribunal Case 

No. LGS/2012/0597, when he heard an appeal against a decision made by 
Surrey Heath Borough Council’s standards committee. Surrey Heath’s 
Standards Committee had found one of their councillors in breach of the Code 
when making general political and satirical comments in an online blog. In her 
considerations on the appeal, Judge Lister gave regard to the guidance that 
had been produced by Standards for England, which stated: 

 
“Q. Does the Code apply to blogs, social networking sites, twitter etc? 
 
It is unlikely that private blogging will fall within the scope of the Code… It 
is important to draw a distinction between comments on a blog about 
council business and comment about general political issues. The context 
is important and the decision as to whether the Code is engaged is fact 
sensitive and case specific.” 

 
Judge Lister overturned the Standards Committee’s decision, stating that 
although the member had been clearly identifiable as a councillor on the 
relevant blog, the reference to that position in his profile description was not an 
indicator that he was actually conducting the business of his authority when 
blogging. Again, the important determining factor is whether the content of the 
particular blog related to the Council or Council business.  

 
5.10 A report on Ethical Standards in Local Government, published in January 2019 

by the Committee on Standards in Public Life, stated that “The widespread use 
of social media presents a particular challenge to determining whether a code 
of conduct applies to instances of behaviour.” The report suggests that high 
standards are expected of public office holders in their use of social media, 
even when they are commenting on matters wholly unrelated to the business of 
their authority. What is relevant to the public is not just whether an individual is 
acting in an official capacity or a personal capacity, but also whether the 
behaviour itself is in public or in private. Restrictions on what an individual may 
do or say in public are different in kind from restrictions on an individual’s 
private life. While the report makes it clear that the current legislation does not 
reflect this fully when it comes to considering the conduct of councillors in 
England8, it does state: “it is clear to us that when a social media account 
identifies the individual as a councillor or an individual makes comments related 
to their role as a councillor, then the code of conduct applies. This would be the 
case even if the individual posts a ‘disclaimer’ to suggest that the account is a 
personal one.”    

                                                 
8
 hence the need for their recommendation that “Councillors should be presumed to be acting in an 

official capacity in their public conduct, including statements on publicly accessible social media. 
Section 27(2) of the Localism Act 2011 should be amended to permit local authorities to presume so 
when deciding upon code of conduct breaches”. 

Page 41



APPENDIX 1 
 

26 
 

 
5.11 As demonstrated above, the current legislation allows councillors to engage in 

a public debate about national and local issues without that conduct falling 
within the jurisdiction of the Local Government standards framework, even if 
their position as a councillor is evident. On the flip side though, councillors can 
find that the Code can be applied to their conduct even where they are not 
immediately identifiable as a councillor. An important case in this area is 
McTigue v Middlesbrough Council (2009). Councillor McTigue made a series of 
postings on the forum of the Middlesbrough Evening Gazette using the 
pseudonym “Indie” which related to wheelie bin collections and were alleged to 
be insulting of a local resident. Councillor McTigue argued that she was not 
acting in her official capacity as all her comments on the forum were made in 
her own time and all using the pseudonym “Indie”. The Adjudication Panel held 
she was not acting as a councillor when commenting about things in general, 
but that she was acting within the ambit of the Code when the contents of her 
posts concerned Council business, even though she was using a pseudonym 
that did not identify her as a councillor. 

 
5.12 The determining factor then is whether the content of any individual post / tweet 

/ blog is sufficiently connected to Council business to justify potential regulatory 
intervention. In our view the matters referred to in Councillor Channer’s 
complaint directly relate to Council business in that there is a clear nexus 
between the alleged conduct and Council business; accordingly, we are of the 
view that her allegations fall within the jurisdiction of the Localism Act. 
Councillor Morris’s telephone call arose as a direct result of an incident in the 
Council chamber and concerned Council business. Further, his posting of both 
this and the information pertaining to former Councillor Bamford, which reads 
like an interview with Councillor Morris, is clearly evidence of him using 
Facebook to communicate with his constituents about Council matters. The role 
of a councillor is to provide a bridge between the community and the Council. 
As well as being an advocate for their local residents, representing their views 
at Council meetings and signposting them to the right people within the 
authority, councillors are responsible for communicating back to their 
constituents about the decisions and actions they, their colleagues and their 
Council are responsible for. 

 
Councillor Morris’ conduct 

 
5.13 The intention of the Code is to ensure that the conduct of public life at the local 

government level does not fall below a minimum level which engenders public 
confidence in democracy. To objectively assess Councillor Morris’ conduct 
against the Council’s Code of conduct, it is important to set out clearly what we 
understand each requirement to mean. We will therefore set out what we 
consider to be the relevant considerations at the start of each section.  
 
Did Councillor Morris fail to treat others with respect?  

 
5.14 Paragraph 3.2: Failure to treat others with respect will occur when 

unreasonable or demeaning behaviour is directed by one person against or 
about another. The circumstances in which the behaviour occurred are relevant 

Page 42



APPENDIX 1 
 

27 
 

in assessing whether the behaviour is disrespectful.  The circumstances include 
the place where the behaviour occurred, who observed the behaviour, the 
character and relationship of the people involved and any provoking factors. 
 
Matters related to Councillor Swain’s complaint 

 
5.15 To briefly recap, as Mr Holmes, Mr Dodson and Mr Quelch were being 

introduced at the Council’s Planning Committee meeting of 13 August 2020, 
Councillor Morris shouted the word ‘corrupt’.  
 

5.16 Councillor Morris was clearly frustrated by the outcome of his complaint about 
Councillor Fluker’s conduct. And it is evident from our conversation with him 
that he in part holds senior officers within the Council responsible for the fact 
that Councillor Fluker was not found guilty of any wrongdoing with regards the 
alleged loan. It is not within the remit of this investigation to ascertain the 
veracity of Councillor Morris’ concerns about officer conduct, though we feel it 
important to make the point that we have not seen any compelling evidence to 
support this view. Our role is to consider whether his interjection at the Planning 
Committee meeting represented a failure to treat those officers with respect. 

 
5.17 In considering whether Councillor Morris has failed to comply with the Code, a 

line must be drawn between the requirement for members to treat others with 
respect and the freedom members have to disagree with the views, opinions 
and actions of others. It is our view that members should be able to express in 
forceful terms concerns that they have about any aspect of the running of the 
Council or the conduct of the most senior officers within the Authority. As Lord 
Laming stated in the Victoria Climbie Inquiry; councillors “must not accept at 
face value what they are told”. 

 
5.18 Having said that, while ideas, policies, recommendations, and advice may be 

challenged and criticised, individuals should not be subject to unreasonable or 
excessive personal attack. The allegation made by Councillor Morris – that 
these officers were corrupt – was incredibly serious and in my view deliberately 
provocative, particularly bearing in mind that these are the officers specifically 
tasked with ensuring that the Council acts lawfully. Such accusations are 
properly made through the Council’s Investigating and Disciplinary Committee 
(and Panel). While Councillor Morris is entitled to express any concern he might 
have in good faith within the correct forum, he is not allowed to publicly 
challenge the personal integrity of the three officers referred to above while in a 
public forum and at a time when the matter relevant to his concerns was not 
under discussion, and none of the relevant officers had any right of response. 
Accordingly, we are of the view that Councillor Morris failed to treat them with 
respect. 

 
Matters related to Councillor Thompson’s complaint 

 
5.19 To briefly recap, after the 13 August 2020 Planning Committee meeting was 

closed prematurely due to Councillor Morris’ interjections, Councillor Heard 
sent an email to all members of the Council expressing his concerns about 
what had occurred. In response, Councillor Morris sent an email to all parties in 

Page 43



APPENDIX 1 
 

28 
 

which he was highly critical of Councillor Heard and others, referring to many in 
a derogatory manner. 
 

5.20 Councillor Thompson described the content of the email as being disrespectful 
to both members and officers, referring specifically to his comparison of her to 
Cruella de Vil. In his own defence, Councillor Morris drew attention to the 
alleged behaviours of Councillor Thompson and others within the Conservative 
group; including referencing the derogatory nickname they use for him.  

 
5.21 While Councillor Morris’ conduct must be viewed objectively against the Code 

(rather than against the alleged misconduct of others), we certainly must give 
regard to the enhanced protection he is offered in Article 10 of the Human 
Rights Act. This would include considering whether any interference or 
restriction to his freedom of expression is prescribed in law and, if so, whether it 
is necessary in a democratic society.  

 
5.22 The Localism Act, under which the Council has adopted a Code of Conduct, 

provides that a councillor’s freedom of speech can be legally restricted. When 
considering whether it is necessary; we believe that one of the objectives of the 
Code and the provisions within it (along with the imposition of any sanction if a 
breach is found), is to maintain standards and ensure the conduct of public life 
at the local government level, including public debate, does not fall below a 
minimum level. A further aim is to protect the reputation and rights of others, for 
example, from offensive, abusive and defamatory remarks. Other aims, which 
are perhaps more relevant to later considerations in this report, are to prevent 
the disclosure of information received in confidence; to ensure the council or 
office of a councillor is not brought into disrepute; to prevent good 
administration; and to ensure that public confidence in the council or 
democracy itself is not undermined. 

 
5.23 Councillors operate in a political environment and must be free to make political 

points and discuss matters of public concern without undue interference. That 
said, the right to freedom of expression is not absolute. It is important that 
Councillors understand that restrictions can be imposed to protect the rights 
and reputations of others and to ensure officers can undertake their tasks 
without undue disturbance. Councillors should consider, therefore, both what 
they are expressing and the way they are expressing it. They should also 
consider how their conduct could be perceived. There is no reason why 
councillors should not be able to undertake a scrutiny role, represent the public 
and any constituents, or make a political point in a respectful, courteous and 
appropriate manner without resorting to personal attacks, being offensive, 
abusive and / or unduly disruptive.  In fact, it is encouraged. 

 
5.24 Summaries of some of the principles established by the Courts can be found at 

Annex A. Particularly relevant to this matter are the principles that any 
restrictions must reflect a ‘pressing social need’ and that ‘political expression’ 
has to be interpreted widely and it include open discussion on political issues 
including public administration and public concern, including comments about 
the adequacy or inadequacy of the performance of public duties by others. 

 

Page 44



APPENDIX 1 
 

29 
 

5.25 The Standards Board for England Case Review 2010 (2011 Edition), which 
focused on the way in which local councillors should treat each other provides 
guidance on treating others with respect by indicating a ‘rule of thumb’ 
comparison: 

 

“You’re talking drivel” is likely to be an acceptable expression of 
disagreement. 

 

Calling someone an “incompetent moron”, on the other hand, is more likely 
to be a failure to comply with the Code. 

 

We can see that the first comment is aimed at the expression of an idea or 
argument. The second is aimed at the person and their personal 
characteristics”. 
 

Whilst some care must be taken in adopting wholesale a test applicable to 
a provision of the former national model code, it is the personalisation of 
comments that cause the user to breach the Code.  
 

5.28. Councillor Morris is clearly somebody who likes to be provocative and use 
profanity on occasion in his correspondence. We have also seen examples, in 
this email and on other occasions, where he has made comments that could be 
interpreted as humorous. The use of humour in a professional environment can 
be viewed as very positive; work can get stressful and when things to get 
serious it can be beneficial to try a lighten the mood. This though is not how 
Councillor Morris appears to utilise it, Instead, Councillor Morris uses sarcasm 
or parody to mock and undermine others. 

 
5.29. There are aspects of Councillor Morris’ email, such as “As an opposition leader 

you have been as useful as an ashtray on a motorbike”, which though 
disparaging, we would not consider a breach of the Code. Councillor Morris is 
entitled to let Councillor Heard know that he does not think he has been a good 
opposition leader. That said, we are of the view that the email does include 
several offensive remarks that were clearly aimed at the personal 
characteristics of others or were intended to patronise, as opposed to their 
being a legitimate criticism of their respective ideas or actions. These include:   
 

● Calling Councillor Heard a ‘melt’ on two occasions. 
● Referring to Brian Harker as a ‘mumbling corpse’. 
● Referring to Councillor Thompson as ‘Cruella’. 

● Calling Councillor Heard a ‘snowflake’. 
● Referring to the Corporate Leadership Team as ‘jokers’ who had lied to 

members. 
● Accusing Councillor Heard (and by extension the Corporate Leadership 

Team) of supporting financial impropriety and cover ups. 
● Using the phrase ‘I wish I had the patience and the crayons to explain 

this to you’. 

● Calling Councillor Heard a wally. 
 

Page 45



APPENDIX 1 
 

30 
 

While Councillor Morris’ article 10 rights offer him enhanced protection when 
making political comment, it does not offer the same protection to personal 
abuse. In our view by sending his email of 14 August 2020, Councillor Morris 
did fail to treat others (including the complainant, Councillor Thompson) with 
respect. 
 
Matters related to Councillor Boyce’s complaint 
 

5.30. To briefly recap, at the meeting of the Joint Standards Committee on 3 
September 2020, Councillor Morris expressed the view that Councillor Boyce 
was ‘past his best’. While we did not find that Councillor Morris said that 
Councillor Boyce had ‘diminished mental capacity’ (which was both alleged and 
which Councillor Morris himself thought he had probably said), we did find that 
Councillor Morris did say that Councillor Boyce was not the man he was.   

 
5.31. In our view comments such as the one made by Councillor Morris not only risk 

a member breaching the Code by failing to treat others with respect; they put 
the Council at risk of failing to fulfil their public sector equality duty. This 
requires organisations to consider how they could positively contribute to the 
advancement of equality and eliminate discrimination, covering the nine 
protected characteristics: age, disability, gender reassignment, pregnancy and 
maternity, race, religion or belief, sex and sexual orientation. Ageism9 remains 
a significant problem within British society; public authorities, and by extension 
its members, have a responsibility to counter it, not deploy it to belittle each 
other. 

 
5.32. That said, when considering this complaint, the forum within which Councillor 

Morris was speaking is crucial. The comment about Councillor Boyce was 
made as part of Councillor Morris’ response to an investigation report that 
included a finding that he had said that Councillor Boyce was too old and 
should quit. In those limited circumstances, we are of the view that Councillor 
Morris is entitled to attempt to justify his earlier conduct without necessarily 
leaving himself open to another complaint being made. It would have been for 
the members of that Committee to listen to that defence before deciding 
whether Councillor Morris had failed to comply with the Code. It is not for this 
investigation to reconsider a decision that was made in relation to that matter 
even were we disagree with it. While we do have serious concerns about 
Councillor Morris’ characterisation of Councillor Boyce as ‘past his best’ due to 
his age, the circumstances within which the comment was made (defending a 
similar allegation at a standards hearing) leads us to recommend that 
Councillor Morris be found not to have failed to treat Councillor Boyce with 
respect. 

 
Matters related to Councillor Channer’s complaints 
 

5.33. To briefly recap, on 5 February 2021 Councillor Morris telephoned Councillor 
Channer following a comment she had made at a Council meeting the previous 
evening. During the telephone conversation, which Councillor Morris recorded 

                                                 
9
 https://publications.parliament.uk/pa/cm201719/cmselect/cmwomeq/359/359.pdf 

Page 46



APPENDIX 1 
 

31 
 

and subsequently published (without Councillor Channer’s knowledge or 
permission; indeed, he told her it was ‘a nice friendly personal one’), Councillor 
Morris accused Councillor Channer of ignoring bulling within the Council (I 
know you sat there and watched people almost get bullied to death. People 
were thinking of suicide because of what was going on at that Council and you 
watched it. And you allowed it to happen) and of having no integrity.  

 
5.34. We will consider Councillor Morris’ actions with regards to the recording and 

publication of the telephone conversation in more detail below. We are of the 
view though that Councillor Morris’ did fail to treat Councillor Channer with 
respect when he published a personal telephone conversation in which he 
made derogatory comments about her character. We would add that while 
some of the later messages posted on Facebook by Councillor Morris about 
Councillor Channer do not directly fall within the scope of this investigation, 
they and the other matters under consideration in this report do evidence a 
concerning pattern of behaviour when it comes to treating others with respect. 
While Councillor Morris may wish to decide who is and is not worthy of his 
respect, the Code to which he has agreed to adhere allows for no such 
qualification.   

 
Has Councillor Morris bullied others? 

 
5.35. Paragraph 3.5(b): There are many definitions of bullying, many of which cross 

over with actions that alternatively described as harassment. The definition for 
bullying that we apply is based on classification provided by ACAS. The 
definition for harassment that we apply reflects the definition set out in Section 
26 of the Equality Act 2010.  Bullying may be characterised as offensive, 
intimidating, malicious or insulting behaviour involving an abuse or misuse of 
power that can make a person feel vulnerable, upset, undermined, humiliated, 
denigrated or threatened. Power does not always mean being in a position of 
authority and can include both personal strength and the power to coerce 
through fear or intimidation. Examples of bullying may include verbal abuse, 
such as shouting, swearing, threatening, insulting, being sarcastic towards, 
ridiculing or demeaning others with the use of inappropriate nicknames or 
humiliating language. 
 

5.36. Bullying and harassment can affect anyone, in any career, at any time, at any 
level and within any workplace. Such behaviour can take the form of easily 
noticed, physically threatening or intimidatory conduct with immediate impact, 
or it can take place behind closed doors, or be much more subtle or 
camouflaged and difficult to identify, at least at first.  It can start, for example, 
with what appear to be minor instances, such as routine ‘nit-picking’ or fault-
finding, but which become cumulative or develop into more serious behaviour 
over time, enabling the perpetrator to isolate and control the person. Some 
bullies lack insight into their behaviour and are unaware of how others perceive 
it.  Others know exactly what they are doing and will continue to bully if they 
feel they are unlikely to be challenged. Bullying and harassment can sometimes 
be overlooked, because of common euphemisms being used by way of 
explanation or justification, referring to someone as having a “poor 

Page 47



APPENDIX 1 
 

32 
 

communication style” or a “bad attitude,” for example, or to the problem being 
due to a “personality clash”.   
 

5.37. It is evident from our various conversations with Councillor Morris that he is a 
hugely passionate councillor who has on numerous occasions expressed 
significant concerns both about bullying by other members of the Council and 
the failure of others such as Councillors Bamford, Thompson, Channer and 
Boyce to do anything about it. We offer no view on the veracity of these 
concerns. We are aware though that Councillor Morris has at times felt 
marginalised in his efforts to get these concerns addressed and as such has 
felt the need to be particularly robust in challenging what he saw to be 
unacceptable behaviour.  

 
5.38. Perhaps the frustration Councillor Morris has felt in dealing with these matters, 

which must have also come with a feeling of powerlessness, led him to believe 
that his own behaviour, no matter how forceful, could never amount to bullying 
behaviour. In our view though the investigation has evidenced several 
occasions where we believe his conduct meets the definition for bullying. These 
would include: 

 
● Publicly calling officers of the Council corrupt in an inappropriate forum 

where they had no right of reply. This can have only be done with a 
view to causing them embarrassment / humiliation.  

● Repeatedly talking over Councillor Thompson while she was acting as 
Chair at the same meeting, to the extent that she and the Committee 
were prevented from conducting Council business. 

● Being both insulting and sarcastic towards / about Councillor Heard and 
others in his email of 14 August 2020. 

● Giving others, such as Councillor Thompson, inappropriate nicknames. 
● Recording and publishing a conversation with Councillor Channer 

without her knowledge or consent in a manner designed to ridicule / 
demean her. 
 

5.39. Accordingly, while it may not have been his intent, it is our view that Councillor 
Morris has failed to comply with paragraph 3.5(b) of the Code. 

 
Has Councillor Morris conducted himself in a manner which could reasonably 
be regarded as bringing his office or the Authority into disrepute? 
 

5.26 Paragraph 3.5(e): In general terms, disrepute can be defined as a lack of good 
reputation or respectability. In the context of the Code of Conduct, a member’s 
behaviour in office will bring that member’s office into disrepute if the conduct 
could reasonably be regarded as either reducing the public’s confidence in that 
member being able to fulfil their role; or adversely affecting the reputation of 
members generally, in being able to fulfil their role. 
 

5.27 A significant part of the good reputation of local government depends on a 
member’s ability to use their public platform, social media and the press to 
scrutinise the actions of their authority. Councillors must be allowed to draw 
attention to and attack the actions of others within the Council where they hold 

Page 48



APPENDIX 1 
 

33 
 

genuine concerns. And we have already referred to the fact that in a political 
context, a degree of the immoderate, offensive, shocking, disturbing, 
exaggerated, provocative, polemical, colourful, emotive, non-rational and 
aggressive, that would not be acceptable outside that context, is tolerated; 
indeed, in Lombardo v Malta (2009) 48 EHRR 23, it was established that 
comments in the political context which amount to value judgements or even 
statements of fact are tolerated despite being untrue as long as they are 
expressed in good faith and there is some reasonable (even if incorrect) factual 
basis for saying it.  

 
5.28 That said, for the reasons stated above we consder that Councillor Morris’ 

conduct does warrant regulatory intervention because he had both bullied and 
failed to treat others with respect. While his right to free speech is crucially 
important, so are the rights of others not to be unfairly maligned. In considering 
whether his conduct was so serious as to also bring his office or authority into 
disrepute, we are of the view that members of the public would expect their 
elected representatives to engage in important conversations about Council 
business in a constructive and positive manner. In our view by publicly 
maligning others when they have no opportunity to respond; interrupting 
meetings to the extent that Council business cannot be conducted, making 
personal verbal attacks towards those who challenge his behaviour and 
publishing recordings of conversations he had led another councillor to believe 
was private, Councillor Morris’ conduct would reduce the public’s confidence in 
Councillor Morris specifically and the Council more widely being able to fulfil 
their roles.  Our view is that Councillor Morris did fail to comply with paragraph 
3.5(e) of the Code. 

 
Has Councillor Morris disclosed confidential information? 

 
5.40. Paragraph 3.6: this paragraph is drafted in the same way as found in Model 

Code of Conduct that preceded the Localism Act.  Standards Board’s guidance 
on this aspect of the Code advised that information can only be considered 
confidential if the following apply: 
 

• It has the necessary ‘quality of confidence’ about it (trivial information will 
not be confidential but information that you would expect people to want to 
be private would be). 

 
• It was divulged in circumstances importing an obligation of confidence 

(information properly in the public domain will not be confidential)”. 
 
Also relevant is the judgement on confidentiality by Lord Goff in AG v Guardian 
Newspapers in which he stated: 
 

“a duty of confidence arises when confidential information comes to the 
knowledge of a person…in circumstances where he has notice, or is held 
to have agreed, that the information is confidential, with the effect that it 
would be just in all the circumstances that he should be precluded from 
disclosing the information to others.” 

 

Page 49



APPENDIX 1 
 

34 
 

If the information disclosed does have the necessary quality of confidence, any 
investigation must consider whether the member disclosing it: 
 

• had the consent of a person authorised to give it; or 
 
• was required by law to do so; or 
 
• only made the disclosure to a third party for the purpose of obtaining 

professional advice (provided that the third party agrees not to disclose 
the information to any other person); or  

 
• the disclosure was—  

 
(a)  reasonable and in the public interest; and  
(b)  made in good faith and in compliance with the reasonable 

 requirements of the authority 
 
5.41. To briefly recap, Councillor Morris submitted a complaint against himself and 

Councillor Bamford on 25 October 2020. He then, on 27 October 2020, 
attended the meeting of the Joint Standards Committee where he was excluded 
from the meeting (along with the press and public) so that his complaints could 
be assessed. On 29 October 2020 Councillor Morris publicly announced on 
Facebook that Councillor Bamford was under investigation, presenting his 
allegations against her as fact. 
 

5.42. Councillor Morris has denied breaching this aspect of the Code on the basis 
that he did not know that the information he was disclosing was considered 
confidential. In our view this is somewhat disingenuous, given that he had been 
forced to leave the meeting when the decision was taken to refer the matter for 
investigation due to the exclusion of the press and public. While Councillor 
Morris might not have been present when the decision was taken, he has been 
a councillor long enough to understand that decisions taken while the press and 
public are excluded are considered confidential by the Council. 

 
5.43. When considering whether Councillor Morris’ disclosure represents a breach of 

the Code, we are mindful that the complaint had been made by him. As such, 
he was allowed to disclose the fact that a complaint had been submitted and 
include the the nature of the allegations made (though other aspects of the 
Code could well be engaged if disrespectful / offensive comments about 
another individual). The information though he did not automatically have the 
authority to disclose was the fact that the matter was under investigation.  

 
5.44. When assessing the quality of confidence this information held, we are assisted 

by decisions that have been made by the Information Commissioner’s Office 
(ICO). Under the Freedom of Information Act (FOIA), individuals have a general 
'right to know', which entitles them to be provided with information held by 
Government departments and public bodies. However, those bodies can 
legitimately withhold information requested in some circumstance.  

 

Page 50



APPENDIX 1 
 

35 
 

5.45. The ICO has consistently maintained that it is in the public interest for Council’s 
to disclose the detail of any complaints where the councillor (or indeed former 
councillor) has been found in breach of the Code. This is not though true of 
councillors who have not been found to be in breach / had a complaint made 
against them where no further action was taken. In FOIA decision ref 
FS50782482, the ICO considered whether Herefordshire County Council had 
been correct in withholding information from a complainant who had requested 
the identity of all councillors who had been complained about. When 
considering the matter, the Commissioner recognised the legitimate interests of 
the complainant in his desire to uphold standards in public life through 
transparency, and those of the wider public in holding officials to account. As 
such, the disclosure of the identity of any councillors complained about would 
be considered legitimate. In deciding whether such a disclosure was necessary 
however, the Commissioner concluded that the information that was already 
being published by the Council (which did not name the individuals complained 
about but that did describe the nature and number of the allegations made 
along with a description of any action taken) was sufficient to meet meeting the 
general interest in transparency regarding the code of conduct complaints 
procedure.  
 

5.46. Having carefully considered Councillor Morris’ disclosure, we are of the view 
that it does amount to a failure to comply with paragraph 3.6 of the Code. In our 
view the fact that Councillor Bamford was under investigation had the 
necessary quality of confidence; confidentiality is essential in particular during 
the investigation to both preserve the integrity of the investigation process and 
to minimise any negative impact of this investigation on all the people affected 
by it. We are not persuaded by Councillor Morris’ argument that he was 
unaware of his duty of confidence; he did not have the consent of the person 
authorised to give it (in this instance, the Monitoring Officer) and it was not a 
necessary disclosure. Finally, it is evident that the disclosure was not made for 
the purposes of seeking advice and while there is an argument that its eventual 
disclosure would have been in the public interest, I have seen no compelling 
evidence that it was the case at the time or that it was made in good faith and in 
compliance with the reasonable  requirements of the authority. 

 
5.47.  Accordingly, it is our view that Councillor Morris did fail to comply with 

paragraph 3.6 with regards this matter. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

6. Recommendations 
 
6.1 In relation to Councillor Swain’s complaint, our recommendation is that 

Councillor Morris be found to have failed to treat others with respect, contrary to 
paragraph 3.2 of the Council’s Code. 
 

Page 51



APPENDIX 1 
 

36 
 

6.2 In relation to Councillor Thompson’s complaint, our recommendation is that 
Councillor Morris be found to have failed to treat others with respect, contrary to 
paragraph 3.2 of the Council’s Code.  

 
6.3 In relation to Councillor Thompson’s complaint our recommendation is that 

Councillor Morris be found to have failed to treat others with respect, contrary to 
paragraph 3.2 of the Council’s Code. 

 
6.4 In relation to Councillor Boyce’s complaint, our recommendation is that 

Councillor Morris be found not to have failed to treat others with respect. 
 

6.5 In relation to Councillor Channer’s two complaints, our recommendation is that 
Councillor Morris be found to have disclosed confidential information, contrary 
to paragraph 3.6 of the Code; and failed to treat others with respect, contrary to 
paragraph 3.2 of the Code. 

 
6.6 Finally, we recommend on the basis of the evidence set out in this report with 

regards the various matters complained, that Councillor Morris be found to 
have bullied others, contrary to paragraph 3.5(b) of the Code, and conducted 
himself in a manner which could reasonably be regarded as bringing his or 
office or the Authority into disrepute, contrary to paragraph 3.5(e) of the Code.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
ANNEX A:  
 
CASE LAW ON ARTICLE 1010  

                                                 
10

 As provided by the Standards Commission for Scotland in the advice not on the application of 

Article 10 of the ECR and the Councillor’s Code of Conduct  

Page 52



APPENDIX 1 
 

37 
 

 
1. Heesom v Public Services Ombudsman for Wales [2014] EWHC 1504 
(Admin): The High Court recognised that politicians have an enhanced protection in 
respect of political expression, which applies to all levels of politics, including local, 
and that political expression in itself is a broad concept. The Court further held that 
public servants are subject to wider levels of acceptable criticism than other 
members of the public when matters of public concern are being discussed. 
However, the limits were not as wide as they were for elected politicians. The need 
to protect officers when imposing a restriction, in terms of Article 10(2), on freedom 
of expression must be weighed up against a politician’s right to enhanced protection. 
The Court noted that the right to freedom of expression was not absolute but that 
any restriction was required to respond to a ‘pressing social need’, to be for relevant 
and sufficient reasons, and to be proportionate to the legitimate aim being pursued. 
However, that margin must be construed narrowly in this context as there was little 
scope under Article 10(2) for restrictions on political speech or on debate on 
questions of public interest. The Court had further recognised that it was in the public 
interest that officers were not subjected to unwarranted comments that prevented 
them from performing their duties in conditions free from perturbation11 as this could 
undermine public confidence in the administration. The Court recognised that local 
government could not ‘sensibly function’ without such a mutual bond of trust and 
confidence.  
 
2. R (Calver) v Adjudication Panel for Wales (2012) EWHC 1172: This case 
outlined the order a Tribunal would require to adopt when considering Article 10, 
which was firstly whether there had been a breach of the Code; secondly, if so, 
whether the finding of a breach and the imposition of a sanction was a limitation of 
the right to freedom of expression afforded by Article 10; and thirdly, if so, whether 
the restriction involved was one that was justified by Article 10(2). The High Court 
noted that if the conduct in question is less egregious12, it is more difficult to justify 
any restriction. The Court further noted that ‘political expression’ had to be 
interpreted widely and it included open discussion on political issues including public 
administration and public concern, including comments about the adequacy or 
inadequacy of the performance of public duties by others. It had been held that there 
was no distinction between political discussion and discussion of matters of public 
concern. In making observations about the general purpose of a Code that 
proscribed conduct, the High Court noted that a Code could seek to maintain 
standards and to ensure that the conduct of public life at the local government level, 
including political debate, does not fall below a minimum level so as to maintain 
public confidence in local democracy.  
 
3. Guja v Moldova (2011) 53 EHRR 16: The European Court of Human Rights 
(EHRR) found that the signalling or disclosure of wrongdoing by an officer should be 
made in the first place to the individual’s superior or other competent authority or 
body and that the question of whether there was any other effective means of 
remedying the wrongdoing should be considered before information was disclosed in 
public. The EHRR further found that the public interest in particular information could 
sometimes be as strong as to override even a legally imposed duty of confidence.  

                                                 
11

 Disturbance or upset caused by some event. 
12

 Extremely bad in a way that it noticeable or shocking 

Page 53



APPENDIX 1 
 

38 
 

 
4. Lombardo v Malta (2009) 48 EHRR 23: The EHRR stated that a very narrow 
margin of appreciation must be afforded to competent national authorities to restrict 
discussions on matters of public interest. Comments in the political context, which 
amount to value judgements, are tolerated even if untrue, as long as they have some 
or any factual basis. Even a statement of fact will be tolerated if what was expressed 
was said in good faith and there is some reasonable (even if incorrect) factual basis 
for saying it. The Court noted it did not matter whether the restriction was imposed 
by civil or criminal proceedings when determining whether interference with the 
freedom of expression was proportionate to the aim pursued and was necessary in a 
democratic society.  
 
5. Mamere v France (2009) 49 EHRR 39: The EHRR noted that individuals taking 
part in public debates on matters of general concern must not overstep certain limits, 
particularly with regard to respect of the reputation and rights of others, a degree of 
exaggeration or even provocation is permitted. The requirement to protect civil 
servants had to be weighed against the interests of freedom of the press or of open 
discussion on matters of public concern. In a political context, a degree of the 
immoderate, offensive, shocking, disturbing, exaggerated, provocative, polemical, 
colourful, emotive, non-rational and aggressive, that would not be acceptable outside 
that context, is tolerated. The Court noted that Article 10 protects all modes of 
expression but that the means of disseminating information can be of significance in 
determining whether measures taken by a competent authority to restrict freedom of 
expression were proportionate to the legitimate aim being pursued.  
 
6. Busuioc v Moldova (2006) 42 EHRR 14: Even if comments are made as part of a 
debate on an issue of public interest, there are limits to the right to freedom of 
expression where an individual’s reputation is at stake.  
 
7. Livingstone v Adjudication Panel for England (2006) EWHC 2533: The High 
Court notes that restraints imposed by a code of conduct designed to uphold proper 
standards in public life are in principle likely to fall within Article 10(2) ECHR but such 
restraints should not extend beyond what is necessary to maintain those standards. 
The Court noted that interference with the right of free speech which impedes 
political debate must be subjected to particularly close scrutiny but that simply 
indulging in offensive behaviour was not to be regarded as expressing a political 
opinion, which attracts the enhanced level of protection.  
 
8. Pederson v Denmark (2004) 42 EHRR 24: The EHRR recognised that there can 
be a conflict between the right to impart information and the protection of the rights 
and reputation of others. In determining whether a restriction on freedom of 
expression was legitimate, consideration should be given to whether or not there 
were sufficient other opportunities for person imparting the information to achieve his 
or her objective. 
 
9. Janowski v Poland (1999) 29 EHRR 705: The EHRR considered rights of public 
servants and their entitlement to protection but noted they are subject to the wider 
limits of acceptable criticism, meaning such criticism could be harsh or expressed in 
strong form. Public servants can expect criticism at higher level than the public but 
not quite the same level as politicians. They did not knowingly lay themselves open 

Page 54



APPENDIX 1 
 

39 
 

to close scrutiny of their every word and deed to the extent to which politicians do 
and should not, therefore, be treated on an equal footing with the latter when it 
comes to criticism of their actions. The Court noted that civil servants can expect 
protection if there is a pressing social need. Any such protection must also be 
proportionate to the legitimate aim being pursued and be relevant and sufficient. Civil 
Servants must enjoy public confidence in conditions free from undue perturbation if 
they are to be successful in performing their tasks and it may therefore prove 
necessary to protect them from offensive and abusive verbal attacks.  
 
10. Thorgeirson v Iceland (1992) 14 EHRR 843: The EHRR noted that freedom of 
expression was not just applicable to information and ideas that were favourably 
received or regarded as inoffensive or as a matter of indifference, but also to those 
which shock, offend or disturb. The Court observed that there was no distinction 
between political discussion and discussion on matters of public concern. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Annex B 
 
Comments received on the draft report. 
 
All relevant parties were sent a copy of our draft investigation report with provisional 
recommendations. While some of the comments received have been addressed in 
the body of the final report, Councillors Thompson and Channer wished to a section 
of of reasoning, which stated.  
 
“It is evident from our various conversations with Councillor Morris that he is a 
hugely passionate councillor who cares deeply for his community. Councillor Morris 
has on numerous occasions expressed significant concerns both about bullying by 
other members of the Council and the failure of others such as Councillors Bamford, 
Thompson, Channer and Boyce to do anything about it. We are aware that 
Councillor Morris has at times felt marginalised in his efforts to get these concerns 
addressed and as such has felt the need to be particularly robust in challenging what 

Page 55



APPENDIX 1 
 

40 
 

he saw to be unacceptable behaviour…Perhaps the frustration Councillor Morris has 
felt in dealing with these matters, which must have also come with a feeling of 
powerlessness, led him to believe  that his own behaviour, no matter how forceful, 
could never amount to bullying behaviour” 
 
Comments from Councillor Thompson 
 
I emphatically dispute the above. I believe that Cllr Morris is hugely passionate 
about his own rights on being free to speak out at any time, in any meeting, on any 
subject of his choosing but without regard to the rights of anyone else. As far as the 
particular instance of bullying of one member by Cllr Fluker is concerned, support 
was given to that member as well as offers to take action, however those were 
refused on the basis that the member preferred to handle the problem himself. Cllrs 
Bamford and Channer, in particular, were extremely supportive of him and it is 
grossly unfair to suggest anything else. I realise Cllr Morris may not have been made 
aware of the support offered, however he has never queried his belief and presents it 
as a matter of fact that reflects poorly, and wrongly, on the members he accuses.  
 
The four members named, Cllrs Bamford, Channer, Boyce and myself, did not stand 
by and watch bullying happen since the only person I had ever been aware of who 
felt they were suffering in this way refused all offers of help, preferring to keep a 
dossier to send to his Conservative Association and to Conservative HQ. In point of 
fact, some statements made about me in that file were misleading or inaccurate, 
however I was not given the opportunity to comment before the complaint report was 
put to the JSC, something I continue to find extremely upsetting because I was 
misrepresented without a chance to explain where it was incorrect.  
 
If Cllr Morris has been marginalised or feels frustrated it would be because he was 
disruptive from the moment he joined the Council and seemed to go out of his way to 
alienate himself from those who were, and are, prepared to follow the constitution 
and conventions of the Council in order to represent the people of the district. The 
discovery that Cllr Morris recorded conversations with and between other members 
without informing them resulted in most of us limiting our interactions with him as far 
as possible, since any recording can be edited and manipulated. He did not (and 
doesn’t) engage in constructive debate but from the very first would shout out over 
others and demand to speak at will, based on his interpretation of his “Human 
Rights”. He did not seem to have a cause beyond his own rights for some months at 
least and appeared to be concerned not with the rights of our residents but only with 
his own.  
I do agree that he evidently feels that his behaviour cannot possibly be bullying, but I 
believe that is because he is certain he is right, and that any behaviour of his must 
therefore be justified. 
 
Councillor Channer comments 
 
Your report states within it that Cllr Morris is hugely passionate, who cares deeply 
about his community. With all due respect many of us are, in fact probably all, but I 
think it fair to say that I do not see others exhibit the type of behaviour that Cllr Morris 
does.  
 

Page 56



APPENDIX 1 
 

41 
 

On reading [the relevant section of the report shown above] I feel is accusatory 
towards myself and others named and appears to be indicating that what Cllr Morris 
has said about us is absolutely true - essentially, we watched it and did nothing. I 
have already above stated that I did not see bullying of the 151 officer and I did not 
stand by watching bullying of her.  Regarding accusing me of watching others being 
bullied. I did not see the throat slitting gesture in the chamber made by Cllr Fluker (I 
seem to recall Cllr Morris at some point saying he had not seen it) and neither did I 
hear Cllr Fluker say, 'hello sailor '. Yes, I was in the chamber, but I did not hear it 
(probably my mind concentrated on something else). I had told Cllr Morris that before 
and at that time he accepted it ,yet now months later he accuses me in a telephone 
call ,which he places on social media ,of essentially lying. I may be lots of things, but 
I am not a liar.  
 
Complaints were made and investigation commenced about what Cllr Fluker had 
done and said and that being so one should not do anything that may prejudice the 
outcome (s). I do not have to explain or tell Cllr Morris what I may have done, or not, 
about any matter, or what I may know or not know about any matter now he is on the 
Council or before he was even on the Council and expressly with regard to what may 
be hearsay. Plus, I may have been told things in confidence and therefore not to be 
shared.  Cllr Morris referred to me as watching and doing nothing about bullying and 
two individuals he named, if I recall correctly, were not even still at the Council when 
he was elected. Therefore, it would appear he is picking stuff up from someone / 
somewhere and running with it as fact when he was not even on the Council to know 
for himself what may / may not have gone on about anything let alone accusations of 
bullying. Hence in my opinion he would be best advised to apply caution when 
acting/stating things as fact when they probably are the content of ' here say'.   
 
In your report at some point, you state that Cllr Morris said I was a bully. I do not 
think I said in my statement he accused me of being a bully. He certainly accused 
me of watching bullying happen and doing nothing. So, I guess in a way he is saying 
that I am a bully, as if his statements were true, he in effect is stating I condone 
bullying which essentially only a bully surely could. [the draft] refers to the frustration 
of Cllr Morris that he has felt in dealing with these matters which must have also 
come with a feeling of powerlessness. I think that rather sums up now how I am 
feeling regarding my situation with Cllr Morris. 
 

Page 57



This page is intentionally left blank



1 

COMPLAINT AGAINST CLLR CHRISY MORRIS 

INVESTIGATION REPORT 

Introduction 

1. I have been appointed as an independent investigator by the Monitoring Officer of Maldon

District Council (“the Council”) to investigate two complaints submitted by the Council’s

Corporate Leadership Team against Cllr Chrisy Morris.  I am a self-employed barrister

specialising in local government law and am an experienced investigator of complaints

against councillors.

The complaints 

2. There are two complaints against Cllr Morris.  The first complaint was submitted collectively

by the Council’s Corporate Leadership Team (“CLT”) on 11 June 2021.  This complaint

alleges that Cllr Morris has bullied Council staff generally, but the focus of the complaint is a

“targeted campaign” of “sustained vindictive behaviour” towards one officer in particular.

3. The second complaint was submitted by each member of the CLT individually between 14-15

June 2021.  Each of the officers made the same allegation against Cllr Morris: he had

behaved in a bullying and aggressive manner towards a member of the CLT at a committee

meeting on 10 June 2021 and posted a video of the incident on his Facebook page.

4. Both complaints were referred to Cllr Morris for his initial comment.  He rejected the

allegations and described two members of the CLT as, respectively, a “snowflake” and a “liar

and a scoundrel”.

5. Having consulted with the Council’s Independent Person, the Monitoring Officer decided that

the complaints justified a formal investigation to be conducted by an external investigator.

The Code of Conduct 

6. By law, the Council is obliged to promote and maintain “high standards of conduct” by

members of the Council.1  To that end, the Council is under a duty to adopt “a code dealing

1 section 27(1) of the Localism Act 2011 

APPENDIX 2

Page 59

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2011/20/section/27


2 

with the conduct that is expected of members … of the authority when they are acting in that 

capacity.”2 

7. Accordingly, the Council has adopted a Local Code of Conduct (“the Code”).  The Code

states that it applies to all members of the Council and that it will apply:

“… whenever you conduct the business of your authority (which includes the 

business of the office to which you are elected …) or act, claim to act or give the 

impression you are acting as a representative of your authority.” 

8. The Code contains both general and specific obligations.  The general obligations are to

comply with seven principles of public life (the “Nolan principles”; paragraph 3.1), and include

(so far as relevant to this investigation) honesty, integrity and accountability.  The specific

obligations which are relevant to this investigation are as follows:

3.2 You must treat others with respect 

3.5 You must not: 

(b) bully any person3 

(c) intimidate or attempt to intimidate any person who is or is likely to be: 

(i) a complainant; 

(ii) a witness; or 

(iii) involved in the administration of any investigation or 

proceedings. 

(e) conduct yourself in a manner which could reasonably be regarded as 

bringing your office or the Authority into disrepute 

9. Cllr Morris told me that the Code does not apply to him because it is a contract and he has

not signed it.  This is clearly wrong.  The Code is a statutory document which applies to all

members without exception.  It is not a contract and there is no requirement that members

“sign” it.

2 section 27(2) of the 2011 Act 
3 a more detailed explanation of “bullying” is provided in an endnote to the Code.  It is said to include 
“offensive, intimidating, malicious or insulting behaviour [and] an abuse or misuse of power through 
means that undermine, humiliate, denigrate or injure the recipient”. 

APPENDIX 2

Page 60

https://www.maldon.gov.uk/downloads/file/13582/local_code_of_conduct


 3 

10. Cllr Morris also told me that the Code does not apply to any of his activity on his personal 

Facebook page.4  This is also clearly wrong.  While it is true that the Code does not apply to 

everything a councillor does – and does not apply to anything done in a purely private 

capacity – it will apply to any posts on Facebook in which Cllr Morris appears to be acting in 

his capacity as a councillor, regardless of the account he happens to be using.  This is 

obviously true of the many posts on his personal Facebook page in which he comments on 

Council business, posts videos of himself in Council meeting rooms and posts on-going 

commentary about this investigation. 

 

Investigation process 

 

11. I held a long interview with Cllr Morris in the Council’s offices on 8 July 2021.  At Cllr Morris’ 

insistence, Cllr Wendy Stamp attended that interview but I did not ask her any questions at 

that time.  I interviewed Cllr Stamp over Microsoft Teams separately on 12 July 2021.  I also 

interviewed the following Council officers also over Microsoft Teams: 

 

(a) Richard Holmes, Director of Service Delivery and Head of Paid Service; 

 

(b) Chris Leslie, Director of Resources;  

 

(c) Paul Dodson, Director of Strategy, Performance and Governance5; and 

 

(d) Cheryl Hughes, Programmes, Performance and Governance Manager. 

 

12. I have also watched recordings of various Council meetings which are relevant to this 

investigation.  I have reviewed Cllr Morris’ recent Facebook activity on both his “Councillor 

Chrisy Morris” and “Chrisy Morris” pages, both of which are publicly accessible. 

 

13. Having completed my investigation, I report my findings below under the following headings: 

 

(a) Cllr Morris’ behaviour towards Cheryl Hughes; 

 

(b) his behaviour towards Paul Dodson; 

 

(c) his behaviour during this investigation. 

 

                                                   
4 Cllr Morris has two Facebook pages, both of which are publicly accessible.  One is operated under 
the name “Councillor Chrisy Morris”; his personal page is operated under the name “Chrisy Morris” 
5 Mr Holmes, Mr Leslie and Mr Dodson are the three members of the CLT 

APPENDIX 2

Page 61

https://www.facebook.com/Councillor-Chrisy-Morris-111124270414446/
https://www.facebook.com/chrisy.morris.7


 4 

 

14. On 13 July 2021, I circulated a confidential draft version of this report to Cllr Morris, the 

complainants, Cllr Stamp and Ms Hughes for comment.  Cllr Morris offered no substantive 

response to the draft but did describe the report as “twaddle”. 

 

Cllr Morris’ behaviour towards Cheryl Hughes 

 

15. Cheryl Hughes is a senior manager of the Council and has overall responsibility for 

committee services, which brings her into regular contact with councillors. Overall, I found Ms 

Hughes to be a credible witness who takes seriously her responsibilities to assist councillors 

to do their jobs and to look after the officers in her team.  The CLT officers described her as a 

well-informed, respected employee and I have no reason to doubt that description.   

 

16. This aspect of the complaint relates primarily to five incidents, which are described in turn 

below. 

 

Phone call on 22 April 2021 

 

17. Since May 2021, the law has required that all Council meetings must take place in person.  

The Council had begun preparing for the return to in-person meetings in April.  A working 

group led by Ms Hughes – which included the Council’s lead specialist officers for public 

health and legal – collaborated on the preparation of a report for Council to decide on a 

package of social distancing measures to protect the health and safety of both councillors 

and officers attending in-person meetings. The working group’s task was to interpret 

guidance issued by the government and make recommendations to Council accordingly.  

Ultimately, however, the decision on what arrangements to adopt rested with councillors.  On 

22 April 2021, the report – “Future Committee Option Reviews” – was circulated to members. 

 

18. Ms Hughes’ name appeared on the report as the officer to whom members should refer any 

questions.  Cllr Morris phoned Ms Hughes on or around 22 April 2021.  He explained to me 

that he was concerned about the requirements for members to wear masks and take lateral 

flow tests before meetings, which he believed to be unlawful.  Ms Hughes’ account of the 

call, which I accept as accurate, is that Cllr Morris was irate, threatening and condescending.  

Cllr Morris shouted at her and told her that she needed to remove these proposals from the 

report.  Ms Hughes said she felt shaken by this call and that she had never experienced this 

kind of behaviour in many years working in local government.   

 

APPENDIX 2

Page 62

https://democracy.maldon.gov.uk/documents/s23306/Future%20Committee%20Option%20Reviews.pdf


 5 

19. Cllr Morris denied that he had been aggressive on the phone to Ms Hughes.  However, he 

also told me that it was not possible to be aggressive over the phone and that he defined 

“aggressive” as making threats of physical harm.  For obvious reasons, I do not accept either 

his definition or his denial as credible and therefore I find that he did behave aggressively 

towards Ms Hughes on this occasion. 

 

Extraordinary meeting of Council on 29 April 2021 

 

20. An extraordinary meeting of Council took place remotely on 29 April 2021 for the purpose of 

discussing the proposals put forward in the working group’s report.  Ms Hughes dialled into 

that meeting in order to assist councillors and her fellow officers.  The report was presented 

by Mr Dodson.  When the motion had been put, Cllr Morris was one of the first councillors to 

contribute to the debate.  While raising legitimate concerns about some of the proposed 

measures, his contribution was unfairly framed as a personal attack on Ms Hughes: 

 

“Right, OK, let’s cut to the chase then, guys.  If we can please go to [paragraph] 

3.10.8 [of the report].  Now, I do believe that the author of this report, Cheryl Hughes, 

is actually in the meeting, so this is going to be a question for Cheryl Hughes.  

Basically, you have stated that anyone that doesn’t agree to a medical procedure 

being done to them should be seen to have acted with a disorderly conduct.  So are 

you saying that refusing a medical procedure would be disorderly conduct?  I did try 

to speak to Cheryl Hughes about this previously, and guess what, I’m now not 

allowed to speak to any of the staff.  The officers seem to be running this Council.  So 

I would ask the author of the report, Cheryl Hughes –”  

 

21. Ms Hughes said she was shaking when she heard her name brought up again and again and 

messaged Mr Dodson to explain that she did not feel comfortable in answering the question. 

 

22. In my opinion, there was simply no need for Cllr Morris to personalise his contribution in this 

way.  As Ms Hughes pointed out to me, in preparing the report, she and her colleagues on 

the working group were trying to assist councillors to make a decision by interpreting 

government guidance for them.  If Cllr Morris disagreed with any of the proposals made in 

the report, it was for him to persuade his fellow councillors during the debate; he was not 

debating with officers who have no right of reply.  It was unfair to single out Ms Hughes for 

criticism in this way, especially in such a public forum. 

 

23. Ultimately, following a lengthy debate, an overwhelming majority of councillors adopted the 

recommendations made in the report.  Importantly for this investigation, that included the 

following measure: 

APPENDIX 2

Page 63

https://democracy.maldon.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=130&MId=2480


 6 

 

“Non-Committee members should watch the meeting via YouTube, and if they have 

pre-arranged with the Chairman to ask a question, this will be done via Microsoft 

(MS) Teams and projected to a TV in the room.” 

 

Statutory annual meeting of Council on 20 May 2021 

24. The statutory annual meeting of Council took place at Maldon Football Club on 20 May 2021.  

Councillors were instructed, on at least two occasions, to arrive at the venue by 9.30am for a 

10am start.  However, Cllr Morris arrived around 8.15am.  According to Ms Hughes’ account 

(which I accept as accurate), she intercepted Cllr Morris at the door to explain that officers 

were working to set up the meeting room and asked whether he could come back later.  Cllr 

Morris refused, shouted at Ms Hughes and thrust his phone in her face, as if he was filming 

the incident.  Cllr Morris then took up a position in the middle of the meeting room and 

proceeded to wander around and in and out of the room, taking phone calls, having 

arguments and watching videos on loudspeaker. 

 

25. This behaviour showed blatant disrespect for all of the officers who were working hard to set 

up this very important meeting for the benefit of councillors.  It left Ms Hughes feeling 

undermined in front of her team.  Ms Hughes emphasised that many members of her team 

felt real anxiety about the return to in-person meetings and that Cllr Morris’ deliberately 

disruptive behaviour unsettled all of the officers present.  Both Mr Holmes and Mr Dodson 

also witnessed Cllr Morris’ behaviour (albeit they were not present for the entirety of the 

incident) and both noted the tension in the room. 

 

Facebook post on 21 May 2021 

 

26. On 21 May 2021, Cllr Morris published a post on his Facebook page in which he described 

the Council as a “shower of sh*t” and described his fellow councillors as  

 

“…mostly donkeys and sloth’s … that are manipulated by the shadow workers that 

even when the puppets change, always pull the strings. 

These shadow workers have had in their own way for so long, they believe they can 

do what they like.  Let me give an example … 

I get a report from an officer that's full of holes and on it says to contact her if I have 

any enquiries, so I did. It becomes apparent she hasn't got a clue and calls me 

condescending when I try to walk her through it - I'd rather do it privately than in a 

public meeting. Then I get told no staff will speak to me for a month ! They haven't 

even spoken to me about it, absolute jokers. …” 

 

APPENDIX 2

Page 64

https://www.facebook.com/chrisy.morris.7/posts/10158485257081267


 7 

27. This post makes grave but entirely unfounded allegations against Council officers and 

continues the campaign against Ms Hughes (albeit without naming her).  I note that, among 

the many comments responding to that post, Cllr Morris “liked” two which had clear 

suggestions of violence: 

 

 
 

 
 

North Western Area Planning Committee meeting on 25 May 2021 

 

28. On 25 May 2021, Cllr Morris turned up to a meeting of the North Western Area Planning 

Committee, of which he was not a member – despite Council having determined that non-

committee members should not attend meetings in person.  This was the first in-person 

committee meeting to take place in the Council chamber under the new arrangements and 

Ms Hughes (whose account of this incident I accept) was there to support her team.  As she 

explained to me, her role as an officer is to work to decisions of Council.  Therefore, when 

Cllr Morris arrived at the meeting, she attempted politely to turn him away.  Again, Cllr Morris 

shouted at her in front of officers that she could not tell him what to do.  Cllr Morris remained 

present throughout the meeting. 

 

Conclusion on Cllr Morris’ behaviour towards Ms Hughes 

 

29. Taken together, these incidents show a clear pattern of aggressive, intimidating behaviour 

targeted at an individual officer in an attempt to undermine and humiliate her.  It is 

undoubtedly bullying behaviour and therefore a breach of paragraph 3.5(b) of the 

Code.  I also note that all of these incidents have taken place in public settings, in front of 

other councillors, officers and members of the public, which is particularly exposing for Ms 

Hughes.  She told me she was disappointed by the failure of anyone else to stand up to Cllr 

Morris on these occasions, which left her feeling isolated.  The public way in which Cllr 

Morris has targeted Ms Hughes gives the impression that Cllr Morris can act with impunity.  

APPENDIX 2

Page 65



 8 

This brings both Cllr Morris’ office as councillor, and the Council as a whole, into 

disrepute, in breach of paragraph 3.5(e) of the Code. 

 

Cllr Morris’ behaviour towards Mr Dodson 

 

30. Mr Dodson is a member of the CLT and the Director of Strategy, Performance and 

Governance.  I found him to be a credible witness who had shown a lot of patience in trying 

(ultimately unsuccessfully) to forge a working relationship with Cllr Morris. 

 

31. On 10 June 2021, Mr Dodson (whose account of this incident I accept) attended a meeting of 

the Performance, Governance and Audit Committee.  Again, Cllr Morris turned up to this 

meeting, despite not being a member of the committee.  The Chair of the Committee 

attempted to explain the rules to Cllr Morris who was insisting on attending.  Mr Dodson 

stepped in to support the Chair in enforcing the resolution of Council that non-committee 

members should attend meetings remotely.  Cllr Morris started shouting at Mr Dodson and 

referred to a standing order. 

 

32. What happened next can be seen in a video, recorded by Cllr Morris and posted on his 

Facebook page.  In a post accompanying the video, Cllr Morris refers to “snivelling little lying 

officers like this guy Paul Dodson” and “this idiot dodders”.  The video itself makes for 

unpleasant viewing.  It shows Cllr Morris goading Mr Dodson from across the meeting room, 

shouting him down and repeatedly taunting him that he is “wrong”.  Cllr Morris arrogantly 

asserts that he “will follow his moral code which is above any procedures you try to enforce 

on me” and dismisses Mr Dodson as “an officer and a bad one”.  I agree with Mr Dodson that 

this was an ambush: the video appears to have been staged in a way to ensure Mr Dodson’s 

humiliation. 

 

33. To her credit, Cllr Emma Stephens, who saw this incident, can be seen standing up to Cllr 

Morris in the video.  The exchange between them is highly revealing.  Cllr Morris talks down 

to, and over, Cllr Stephens, who he patronisingly dismisses as a “new” councillor.  He claims 

to be standing up to bullying behaviour, despite having just bullied Mr Dodson in front of 

everyone in attendance.  He justifies his behaviour by asserting that this is “politics” and 

likens his actions to debates at “PMQs”.  This is a hopelessly inappropriate analogy: officers 

are not politicians and do not have a right of reply as councillors do.  By taking advantage of 

this imbalance, Cllr Morris has abused his position as a councillor.  

 

APPENDIX 2

Page 66

https://www.facebook.com/chrisy.morris.7/posts/10158533350011267


 9 

34. The video attracted a lot of comments on Cllr Morris’ Facebook page.  Although Cllr Morris 

denied any responsibility for the comments his Facebook activity attracts, he “liked” the 

following two comments: 

 

 

 
 

35. It should go without saying that this is outrageous behaviour and completely unacceptable.  

Mr Dodson was attempting to uphold a rule which Council had adopted through a democratic 

process.  In simply trying to do his job, he was bullied by Cllr Morris and then, to make 

matters even worse, humiliated online and subject to vile abuse.  This behaviour 

constitutes a serious breach of the Code: it amounts to bullying (paragraph 3.5(b)) and 

brings both Cllr Morris office as a councillor, and the Council as a whole, into 

disrepute (paragraph 3.5(e)). 

 

Cllr Morris’ behaviour during this investigation 

 

36. Throughout this investigation, Cllr Morris has made repeated efforts to undermine and 

publicly discredit the Code of Conduct process: 

 

(a) he breached confidentiality by sharing an extract from a complaint document on his 

Facebook page and complaining that the Council was “… throwing thousands at an 

investigation that ultimately can’t do a thing …”; 

 

(b) having learned that I was going to carry out this investigation, he made two calls to my 

chambers, dishonestly posing as a prospective client, to fish for information about my 

fee; 

 

APPENDIX 2

Page 67

https://www.facebook.com/chrisy.morris.7/posts/10158572920281267


 10 

(c) he also posted my name and chambers on his Facebook page, which prompted an 

unsavoury discussion among his followers, including an anti-Semitic slur which Cllr 

Morris “liked”: 

 

 
 

(d) during my face-to-face meeting with Cllr Morris, he was hostile and aggressive, which I 

perceived to be a deliberate attempt to unsettle me.  He rudely insisted that it was “his” 

meeting and accused me of disrespecting him when I refused to address him by his first 

name rather than as “Cllr Morris”; 

 

(e) he broadcasted the meeting (which was private) on Facebook Live, without asking either 

my or Cllr Stamp’s permission – in fact, he deliberately overrode Cllr Stamp’s express 

refusal of consent to posting the video online.  The Council has had to report this incident 

to the Information Commissioner as a personal data breach and Cllr Morris has ignored 

officers’ requests to remove the video from his Facebook page, despite being told that 

this puts the Council at risk of a fine or other enforcement action; 

 

(f) astonishingly, after the meeting had concluded, Cllr Morris also threatened Cllr Stamp 

who told me that she intended to report the incident to the police. 

 

37. Cllr Morris told me multiple times during our interview that he believes the Council to be 

corrupt and that senior officers of the Council – particularly members of the CLT – had 

covered up serious wrongdoing.   It is clear that Cllr Morris believes that he is on a personal 

crusade to clean up the Council and that this gives him licence to behave as he pleases.  I 

have taken this allegation seriously and have made my own enquiries into it but find it to be 

completely without foundation: 

 

(a) Cllr Morris submitted a complaint against the former leader of the Council, alleging 

financial impropriety.  He played me a recording of a BBC Radio Essex report on his 

allegation.  He also made a report to Essex Police, which began a formal investigation in 

December 2019.  That investigation concluded in April 2020, when the police informed 

the Council that there was no evidence any criminal offence had been committed and 

that they were taking no further action; 

 

APPENDIX 2

Page 68

https://www.facebook.com/chrisy.morris.7/posts/10158564947476267


 11 

(b) the Council commissioned an external investigator to look into Cllr Morris’ complaint.  

However, the investigator recommended that in light of the police’s conclusion, there was 

little point in completing the investigation and, in any case, it was unlikely that the 

allegation (even if true) would amount to a breach of the Code; 

 

(c) Cllr Morris referred to problems during the audit of the Council’s accounts and alleged 

that this was because the “books had been cooked”.  However, the independent auditor 

of the Council’s accounts for the year 2019/20 “did not identify significant transactions 

outside the normal course of business or any transactions where the business rationale 

was not clear”; 

 

(d) neither the BBC nor any other local media have reported on the matter subsequently 

from which it can be inferred that they were satisfied there was no substance in the 

allegation; 

 

(e) Cllr Stamp (who is the Leader of the Council) told me she was satisfied that there had 

been no corruption on the part of CLT officers who had handled the allegation 

appropriately. 

 

38. Cllr Morris’ behaviour during this investigation shows an alarming contempt for the Code of 

Conduct process and the Nolan principles of accountability and integrity.  It also 

demonstrates Cllr Morris’ capacity to lie, mislead and intimidate.  I cannot reconcile this 

behaviour – which seriously damages his credibility as a witness – with Cllr Morris’s 

insistence to me that “truth, honesty and integrity” are important values of his “moral code”.  

This behaviour brings Cllr Morris’ office as a councillor, and the Council as a whole, 

into disrepute, in breach of paragraph 3.5(e) of the Code. 

 

Summary of findings  

 

39. In summary, my findings are as follows: 

 

(a) by attempting to undermine and publicly discredit this investigation, Cllr Morris has 

brought his office and the Council into disrepute, in breach of paragraph 3.5(e) of the 

Code; 

 

(b) by persistently targeting Cheryl Hughes with intimidating and aggressive behaviour, and 

by attempting to publicly undermine and humiliate her, Cllr Morris has bullied an officer of 

APPENDIX 2

Page 69

https://democracy.maldon.gov.uk/documents/s23105/Appendix 1.pdf


 12 

the Council, in breach of paragraph 3.5(b) of the Code, and brought his office and the 

Council into disrepute, in breach of paragraph 3.5(e) of the Code; and 

 

(c) by publicly taunting and haranguing Paul Dodson with intimidating and aggressive 

behaviour, and by attempting to publicly undermine and humiliate him, Cllr Morris has 

bullied an officer of the Council, in breach of paragraph 3.5(b) of the Code, and brought 

his office and the Council into disrepute, in breach of paragraph 3.5(e) of the Code. 

 

Conclusion 

 

40. For these reasons, I conclude that Cllr Morris has committed serious breaches of the Code.   

 

Matt Lewin 

Cornerstone Barristers 

 

18 July 2021 

APPENDIX 2

Page 70


	Agenda
	3 Minutes of the last meeting
	Minutes
	 Appendix 1
	1. Composition
	2. Roles and Functions of the Joint Standards Committee:
	3. Procedural Arrangements:
	4. Code of Conduct Complaints Process – Written Summary


	5 Standards Complaints - Councillor Chrisy Morris
	Appendix 1
	Appendix 2




